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What you need to know 
• Alternative performance measures (APMs) may supplement GAAP-

reporting, and often represent an effective way of communicating 

important entity specific developments. 

• However, APMs need to be accompanied by the appropriate descriptions 

and disclosures to avoid the risk of misleading the users of the financial 

reports.  

• Regulators in many jurisdictions have issued guidelines for the use of 

APMs that are helpful benchmarks when developing communication 

strategies and preparing financial reports. Entities should be mindful  

of these guidelines, both for compliance purposes and to facilitate 

effective communication.  
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1. Introduction 
1.1 Background 

Financial statements are the cornerstone of financial reporting for  

entities. In addition to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

measures, management often uses a variety of other financial measures  

to communicate information about an entity’s financial performance, financial 

position and cash flows. Against the backdrop of recent calls for enhanced 

corporate reporting, this publication explores the use of such performance 

measures in the communication of financial information. Although performance 

measures may have various names, including non-GAAP (or non-IFRS) 

measures and Management Performance Measures (MPMs), this publication 

refers to all such performance measures as Alternative Performance Measures 

(APMs). 

What are Alternative Performance Measures? 

Although financial statements are essential to any entity’s financial reporting, 

the financial statements represent only one of several reports used by entities 

to communicate decision-useful information. Entities often find that key 

performance measures beyond the ones reported in the financial statements 

add value to users, in particular, to enhance the users’ ability to predict future 

earnings. User communities generally apply APMs actively in their analysis, and, 

as such, APMs are an important aspect of entities’ communication of financial 

information.  

APMs are financial measures not defined in the applicable reporting framework. 

What an APM is, therefore, will depend on the applicable reporting framework. 

This publication takes the perspective of an entity that applies IFRS in its 

financial statements, disregarding any jurisdictional requirements affecting  

the reporting framework and, thus, what is to be considered an APM. 

APMs include financial measures, such as subtotals, presented in the financial 

statements, if they are not defined in the relevant reporting framework. Many 

APMs, however, are derived by adjusting measures presented in the financial 

statements and/or by combining such measures, for example, in calculating 

various ratios, margins and return measures. While profit measures are 

typically the most common, measures based on balance sheet items and  

cash flows are also used in practice. 

The use of APMs in financial communication is pervasive. Various reviews of 

local regulators and enforcers have indicated that almost all listed entities use 

APMs in their annual and interim reports. The number of APMs used, however, 

varies considerably. While some entities only use a few, other entities use more 

than ten or even more than twenty.  

These reviews have also confirmed the use of a wide variety of APMs. The Irish 

enforcer reported finding no less than 126 different APMs in the 2016 annual 

reports of 27 issuers1. 

One reason for the large number of different APMs is the diversity in 

adjustments made to measures in the financial statements. Profit measures 

may, for example, be adjusted for a large number of items of income or, what  

is more often the case, expenses. This includes, but is not limited to impairment 

charges, depreciation and/or amortisation in general, or related to specific 

assets (e.g., acquired intangible assets), restructuring expenses, other income 

and expenses (in general or a specific sub-group) and/or fair value changes 

relating to specific types of assets or liabilities.  

                                                   
1 Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA) (September 2017) Alternative 
performance measures - thematic survey. 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
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Another reason for the number of different APMs is diversity in labelling. For 

example, a profit measure that has been adjusted for various items may simply 

be labelled “adjusted”, or it may be labelled as “adjusted for special items/one-

off items/items affecting comparability”, or something similar. Alternatively, 

the label may specifically identify all adjustments that have been made.  

Why use APMs in financial communication? 

The widespread use of APMs in financial communication is not an indication that 

GAAP-compliant financial reporting is deficient. Indeed, analysts and investors 

often use a combination of IFRS measures, reported APMs and their own 

measures to evaluate an entity’s prospects and risks. This suggests that APMs 

not only complement IFRS measures, but also each other. 

The complementary use of APMs in financial communication may offer valuable 

insights to users of financial statements by highlighting key value drivers and/ 

or the effects of certain events and transactions on the entity’s performance, 

financial position or cash flows. APMs may be used to explain an entity’s 

performance from the management’s perspective and/or to provide 

comparability with peers. 

When externally reported APMs are aligned with the measures used internally 

for management purposes, they may also convey information about how 

management understands and manages the entity. Similarly, the external 

reporting of APMs used in the remuneration of management, may communicate 

information about how management is held accountable. 

What are the concerns? 

While APMs are generally considered to add value to an entity’s financial 

reporting, there is concern over their increasing use. One reason for this 

concern is a perception of increasing disparity between APMs and IFRS 

measures. For example, in 2013 the New Zealand Financial Markets Authority 

indicated that reported non-GAAP profits for a sample of 23 issuers exceeded 

GAAP profits by 76%.2 

The debate has highlighted an area for concern that APM adjustments often 

have a favourable impact on the IFRS measures and that adjustments are made 

for the effect of events or transactions that are not unusual. Such observations 

raise questions of management bias.  

Concerns also stem from perceptions of inconsistencies in which APMs are 

presented over time, and a lack of transparency regarding the calculation of  

the APMs. Furthermore, there are concerns that APMs are used in ways that 

may mislead investors, analysts and other stakeholders, a concern that is 

strengthened because of the lack of external assurance.  

Another key concern relates to the lack of comparability across entities, even 

across entities within the same industry. 

Guidelines for APMs outside the financial statements 

In recent years, several regulators have published guidelines on the use of 

APMs outside the financial statements. These guidelines neither encourage  

the use of APMs in general, nor prescribe particular APMs. Instead, they 

encourage or require entities to adopt various practices to ensure unbiased  

and transparent information on financial performance, financial position and 

cash flows.  

                                                   
2 New Zealand Financial Markets Authority, Monitoring of non-GAAP disclosures (September 

2013). 
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Enforcers also challenge preparers on their use of APMs and urge reporting 

entities to improve disclosures around APMs. Some enforcers have also 

conducted thematic reviews on the reporting of APMs and compliance with 

relevant guidelines.  

Others, such as users’ organisations, have also issued recommendations and 

guidelines about APMs. Considering the fact that the overall objective of APMs 

is to provide decision useful information to the users of financial statements, 

such guidelines should be considered by entities when developing performance 

measure strategies and deciding on specific APMs. Various recommendations 

and guidelines by user organisations across jurisdictions and markets are not 

commented on in this publication. 

APMs in the financial statements 

In light of the concerns that APMs potentially mislead analysts, investors and 

other users of financial statements, the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) has decided to address the issue in the context of financial 

statements reporting.  

1.2 About the publication 

Section 2 APMs outside the financial statements provides an overview of 

guidelines on the use of APMs outside the financial statements. Some of  

the findings of reviews on the use of APMs outside financial statements  

by enforcers are also included. For each topic area that is considered,  

extracts from financial reports illustrating existing practices are provided.  

The extracts from financial reports are reproduced for illustrative purposes. 

They are not intended to represent “best practice”. They have not been subject 

to any review on compliance with relevant guidelines on the use of APM outside 

financial statements. Readers are thus advised to carefully consider relevant 

jurisdictional requirements and restrictions before adopting any of the practices 

contained in extracts reproduced in this publication. Please note that the 

extracts should be read in conjunction with the rest of the information provided 

in the financial reports in order to understand their intended purpose. 

Section 3 APMs in the financial statements summarises the ongoing discussions 

regarding presentation and disclosure of APMs within financial statements. 

In Section 4 Project Management, the more practical aspects of using APMs 

from an entity’s perspective are addressed.  

How we see it 
• APMs may enhance financial communication. 

• The wide range of different APMs underlines the need for transparency  

in what they represent and the messages they are intended to convey. 

• For APMs to be useful, entities need to critically assess the purpose  

of disclosing them, and clearly articulate the message conveyed by  

an APM in the communication in which the APM is reported. 
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2. APMs outside the financial statements  
Regulators in various jurisdictions have issued guidelines on the use of APMs  

in financial communication. The objective of these guidelines is to require, or 

encourage, entities to adopt good practices in the presentation of APMs. This 

chapter summarises the guidelines published by the International Organization 

of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) and other regulators3. The chapter also 

outlines comments made by various enforcers on the compliance with these 

guidelines. Finally, the chapter also includes examples illustrating current 

practices of reporting entities. 

Guidelines on the use of financial APMs 

International 

Organization 

of Securities 

Commissions 

(IOSCO) 

Statement On Non-Gaap Financial Measures (2016) 

The guidelines apply to any non-GAAP financial measure  

that an entity discloses outside of the financial statements. 

European 

Securities 

and Markets 

Authority 

(ESMA) 

Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures (2015) 

The guidelines apply to APMs disclosed outside financial 

statements in regulated information and prospectuses. 

Questions and answers - ESMA guidelines on Alternative 

Performance Measures (2017/2018) 

ESMA has provided Q&As to promote common supervisory 

approaches and practices in the application of the ESMA 

Guidelines on APMs. 

USA Regulation S-K, Regulation G, Form 8-K, Compliance and 

Disclosure Interpretations 

The regulations and interpretations provide guidance on  

the use of non-GAAP financial measures.  

Canada CSA Staff Notice 52-306 (Revised) Non-GAAP Financial 

Measures issued (2016) 

The primary purpose of this notice is to provide guidance to 

an issuer that discloses non-GAAP financial measures. 

South Africa Circular 4 of 2018 issued by the South African Institute of 

Chartered Accountants (SAICA) 

The circular provides guidance on the requirement to 

disclose headline earnings for companies listed on the JSE 

Limited.  

Australia Regulatory Guide 230 – Disclosing non-IFRS financial 

information (2011) 

The guide sets out guidance on the use of financial 

information in financial reports and other corporate 

documents, such as transaction documents and market 

announcements, where that information is presented other 

than in accordance with accounting standards (non-IFRS 

financial information). 

                                                   
3 Other regulators’ guidelines considered in this chapter include those listed in the table below. 
There are other local regulators that have issued similar APM-guidelines, and as such, the list is 
not intended to represent a complete list of existing APM guidelines. 

https://www.iosco.org/library/pubdocs/pdf/IOSCOPD532.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=2&ved=0ahUKEwiXhLLQmbzbAhVIIsAKHVTxCzUQFgguMAE&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.esma.europa.eu%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Flibrary%2F2015%2F10%2F2015-esma-1415en.pdf&usg=AOvVaw18-uKbdLjkKuPDc2svxXJo
https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/esma32-51-370_qas_on_esma_guidelines_on_apms.pdf
https://www.esma.europa.eu/sites/default/files/library/esma32-51-370_qas_on_esma_guidelines_on_apms.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?amp;node=17:3.0.1.1.11&rgn=div5#se17.3.229_110
https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/33-8176.htm
https://www.sec.gov/fast-answers/answersform8khtm.html
https://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/guidance/nongaapinterp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/guidance/nongaapinterp.htm
http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwie79WurbzbAhXpCsAKHTdPDrcQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.osc.gov.on.ca%2Fdocuments%2Fen%2FSecurities-Category5%2Fcsa_20160114_52-306_non-gaap.pdf&usg=AOvVaw3tWwlYd9blj0MtRQL-NtNI
http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwie79WurbzbAhXpCsAKHTdPDrcQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.osc.gov.on.ca%2Fdocuments%2Fen%2FSecurities-Category5%2Fcsa_20160114_52-306_non-gaap.pdf&usg=AOvVaw3tWwlYd9blj0MtRQL-NtNI
https://www.saica.co.za/portals/0/documents/Circular4_2018_Headline_Earnings.pdf
https://www.saica.co.za/portals/0/documents/Circular4_2018_Headline_Earnings.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwixjZf9v7zbAhUKJ8AKHar5D4gQFggnMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Fasic.gov.au%2Fregulatory-resources%2Ffind-a-document%2Fregulatory-guides%2Frg-230-disclosing-non-ifrs-financial-information%2F&usg=AOvVaw0K3SJ94IirYFxka19XNirw
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwixjZf9v7zbAhUKJ8AKHar5D4gQFggnMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Fasic.gov.au%2Fregulatory-resources%2Ffind-a-document%2Fregulatory-guides%2Frg-230-disclosing-non-ifrs-financial-information%2F&usg=AOvVaw0K3SJ94IirYFxka19XNirw
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New Zealand Disclosing non-GAAP financial information (updated) 

(2017) 

The guidelines are primarily intended for Financial Markets 

Conduct Act reporting entities (FMC reporting entities) and 

their directors. 

Singapore Practice Note 7C Guide for Operating and Financial Review 

(2011) 

The Practice Note publishes the guide provided by the 

Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance on the 

Operating and Financial Review in an annual report.  

The discussion in sections 2.1 to 2.9 consider the guidelines issued by IOSCO as 

the basis and highlights similarities, differences and any other relevant aspects 

in guidelines issued by other regulators that might be useful to the preparers.  

The table below provides a high-level summary of the requirements in the 

guidelines issued by different regulators and provides references to more 

detailed discussions elsewhere in the publication. 

Summary of requirements in guidelines 

Overall concept 

Neutrality (refer section 2.1) APM must be unbiased and must not  

be used to avoid presenting information  

that could have an adverse impact to  

the investors. 

Prominence (refer section 2.2) APMs must not be presented with greater 

prominence than the most directly 

comparable measure calculated and 

presented in accordance with GAAP. 

Comparatives and consistency 

(refer section 2.3) 

APMs must be accompanied by comparative 

information for the prior years presented  

in the financial reports. Their definition 

should not change over years and their 

presentation should be consistent over  

all periods presented. 

Presentation and disclosure 

Labels (refer section 2.4) In the context of APMs, labels refer to 

headings or the descriptions used to 

describe the APM. APMs must be labelled  

in a way that they are distinguished from 

GAAP measures. Labels must be meaningful 

and should reflect the composition of  

the APM. 

Definitions (refer section 2.5) APMs must be clearly defined with an 

explanation of their basis of calculation. 

Reconciliations (refer section 

2.6) 

APMs must be reconciled to the most 

directly comparable GAAP measure 

presented in the financial statements with 

explanation of the adjustments made. 

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwilo9XUq7zbAhXiK8AKHYYYCxwQFggnMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Ffma.govt.nz%2Fassets%2FGuidance%2F120901-guidance-note-disclosing-non-gaap-financial-information.pdf&usg=AOvVaw1o24skWoyj0wNJuz7SQ93p
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwilo9XUq7zbAhXiK8AKHYYYCxwQFggnMAA&url=https%3A%2F%2Ffma.govt.nz%2Fassets%2FGuidance%2F120901-guidance-note-disclosing-non-gaap-financial-information.pdf&usg=AOvVaw1o24skWoyj0wNJuz7SQ93p
http://rulebook.sgx.com/en/display/display.html?rbid=3271&element_id=3745&print=1
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Explanations (refer section 2.7) Entities must explain the reason for 

presenting the APMs, including an 

explanation of why the information is 

useful.  

Placement 

Location (refer section 2.8) In general, the guidelines do not include any 

specific guidance with respect to location of 

APMs and related disclosures. 

Other 

Assurance (refer section 2.9) Guidelines issued by regulators addressed 

in this publication generally do not include 

any specific requirements with respect to 

assurance of APM measures. 

Some enforcers have conducted thematic reviews on the reporting of APMs and 

compliance with relevant guidelines. While these reviews generally report that 

entities have made improvements to their APM practices in recent years, they 

also suggested that there is room for further improvement. 

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines  

EU 

ESMA 

Enforcement and Regulatory Activities of Accounting 

Enforcers in 2017 (March 2018)  

Review of 170 annual 2017 financial reports of  

which around 75% used APMs. While acknowledging an 

enhancement of disclosures related to APMs in recent  

years, ESMA noted that there still is “room for further 

improvement” and that enforcement actions were taken 

against 35 of the issuers in relation to the use of APMs.  

In two cases, the decisions required the publication of  

a corrective note. 

Ireland 

Irish Auditing 

and 

Accounting 

Supervisory 

Authority 

(IAASA) 4 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey  

(September 2017) 

Review of the 2016/17 annual financial reports published  

by all 28 equity issuers and one debt issuer within IAASA’s 

remit. 27 issuers in the sample used APMs. IAASA reported 

raising issues relating to APMs with seven of these issuers. 

The 

Norwegian 

Financial 

Supervisory 

Authority 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review5  

(September 2017) 

Self-administered survey of 228 issuers’ compliance with  

the ESMA guidelines in the 2016 interim financial reports, 

and a review of the 2016 annual reports of 22 issuers 

included on the most traded index. Based on the review,  

the Norwegian FSA concluded that the degree of compliance 

with the ESMA guidelines was too low, and it also observed 

that there is an expectation gap between entities’ intention 

to comply and their actual compliance.  

                                                   
4 Irish Auditing And Accounting Supervisory Authority. 
5 This report is not available in English. Original title in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål.  

https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.finanstilsynet.no/contentassets/feba848927be4ee0ac7789a7e14d0c73/tematilsyn-om-alternative-resultatmal-2017.pdf
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UK 

Financial 

Reporting 

Council (UK 

FRC) 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

Targeted review of the APM disclosures in the 2016 annual 

report of 20 UK issuers. APMs were used in all reports. The 

UK FRC concluded that compliance with the guidelines was 

generally good and much improved compared with previous 

years. In an earlier review, the FRC looked at the use of 

APMs in 2016 interim statements.6 

 

How we see it 
Enforcers report improved APM practices in several jurisdictions. However, 

practice is still mixed and entities need to continue exploring ways to achieve 

more effective use of APMs.  

2.1 Neutrality 

What the guidelines say 

The guidelines issued by IOSCO specifically require that APMs must not be 

biased, i.e., used to avoid presenting adverse information to the market. In 

other words, APMs should be neutral. Neutrality is a key concept in other 

regulators’ guidelines as well. For instance, the Canadian Staff Notice states 

that APMs must not be used to mislead investors. Some regulators make use  

of more specific requirements to underline the importance of neutrality. For 

instance, the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requirements and 

its Staff guidance prohibit, in certain circumstances, entities from adjusting for 

charges or liabilities that require, or will require, cash settlement, or would have 

required cash settlement absent an ability to settle in another manner in their 

APMs on liquidity. 

While it may appear that the ESMA guidelines do not address the concept of 

neutrality, ESMA has indicated, through a Q&A issued in October 20177 that  

a biased measure may not be compliant with the spirit of the guidelines. This 

follows from the objective of the guidelines to contribute to transparent and 

useful information to the market and improve comparability, reliability and/or 

comprehensibility of APMs used.  

                                                   
6 Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative performance measures (APMs) (November 
2017). 
7 Question 17 in “Questions and answers - ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance 
Measures (APMs)”, 30 October 2017 ESMA32-51-370. 

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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ESMA Q&A 17; Application of the Fair review Principle  

 

What the enforcers report 

Some enforcers have expressed concerns regarding the nature of adjustments 

made to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income related 

APMs, and whether these adjustments facilitate neutrality. For example,  

recent SEC comment letters to Foreign Private Issuers illustrate that the SEC  

is monitoring practices to ensure unbiased adjustments of performance 

measures. The SEC has objected to the removal of normal cash operating 

expenses in APMs, as well as the exclusion of non-recurring losses combined 

with inclusion of non-recurring gains. For examples of comments relating to  

the application of the ESMA guidelines, please see the table below: 

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Neutrality 

Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey  

(September 2017)  

The IAASA reported one case where the enforcer questioned 

an entity’s rationale for excluding all amortisation charges on 

“intangible assets not acquired by acquisition (e.g., software 

costs)” in the calculation of an earnings measure. The 

question resulted in the entity undertaking to amend the 

APM in future financial reports. 

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

In a section focusing on adjusted profit measures, the FRC 

noted that, typically, entities exclude items from the profit 

measures and that all but three of the entities excluded at 

least five items from adjusted profit measures. Nine entities 

in their sample excluded more than six items. The FRC also 

reported that in all but three cases, the adjusted measures  

of profit were higher than the IFRS equivalent and that  

the range of difference was considerable (from 72% below  

to more than 300% above).  

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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Noting that three entities adjusted for expenses relating to 

share-based payments, the FRC states that it is not clear 

“why share-based payment charges should be excluded as 

they appear to be a valid cost of the business and relieve 

companies of an alternative cash expense”. The FRC 

similarly expressed scepticism to adjustments relating to 

amortisation of intangible assets, observing that there is  

an apparent lack of symmetry in excluding amortisations 

when the assets being amortised contribute to the profits 

generated by the business.  

What reporting entities can do 

Obviously, the requirement that APMs be unbiased does not preclude entities 

from making adjustments to measures presented in the financial statements. 

Quite the contrary, APMs often represent useful additional information beyond 

what is prescribed by the relevant reporting framework. But entities need to 

distinguish between adjustments to GAAP-numbers that present a meaningful 

alternative measure of an entity’s performance and other adjustments. It is 

especially important that entities explain why a measure is useful and for what 

purpose. For example, adjusting for truly infrequently occurring items may be 

helpful in assessing recurring income, adjusting for items that do recur, such  

as impairment losses, may not. In other cases, for other purposes, it may make 

good sense to focus on an earnings measures adjusted for interest expense and 

tax. The requirement for unbiased measures also require entities to be mindful 

not to only adjust for losses, but also take into consideration the corresponding 

positive amounts. Otherwise the measure may potentially mislead users.  

Extract 2.1.1 Holmen publ AB (Q4 2017) Sweden 
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Commentary 

In the interim report for the fourth quarter of 2017, Holmen presents various 

APMs, including operating profit excluding the effect of items affecting 

comparability. In the APM related disclosures, which are provided at the  

end of the interim report, Holmen explains that it classifies certain items  

as “items affecting comparability“ in order to reflect how earnings measures 

are “affected by matters outside normal business operations, such as 

impairment, disposal, closure and fire”. Holmen also explains that the effects 

of maintenance shutdowns, which are recurring events in Holmen’s business, 

are not treated as an item affecting comparability. Items classified as 

affecting comparability are separately identified (final sentence in extract). 

 

2.2 Prominence 

What the guidelines say 

Guidelines issued by IOSCO require entities not to present APMs with more 

prominence than the most directly comparable measure calculated and 

presented in accordance with GAAP. They also require that APMs should not,  

in any way, confuse or obscure the presentation of the GAAP measures. 

Similarly, ESMA guidelines require that entities do not present APMs with 

greater prominence, emphasis or authority than measures presented in the 

financial statements. The guidelines further require that APMs should not 

distract from measures directly stemming from financial statements. 

While the concept of prominence is not defined in any of the guidelines, ESMA 

has addressed the meaning of prominence through a Q&A.8 Emphasising that 

entities should apply judgement when complying with this principle, ESMA first 

suggest some factors that entities should consider in doing this. These include 

the location of the APMs within the document, the frequency of use and the use 

of different fonts (e.g., bold or a larger size). ESMA also provides a number of 

examples illustrating when APMs may be perceived as being presented with 

more prominence.  

  

                                                   
8 Question 9 in Questions and answers: ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures 
(APMs), October 2017 | ESMA32-51-370. 
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ESMA Q&A 9: Concept of prominence – illustrative examples  

 

The Australian Regulatory Guide provides further guidance in respect of 

determining whether equal or greater prominence, emphasis or authority  

is given to IFRS financial information in a document that presents non-IFRS 

financial information. The guidelines state that it is a matter of judgement,  

taking into account the overall document. The guidance further states that 

consideration should be given to factors such as: (a) the order and manner in 

which the IFRS and non-IFRS figures are presented; and (b) providing a similar 

level of attention to reconciling items between IFRS and non-IFRS figures as  

is given to components of non-IFRS figures, based on their relevance and 

materiality. 

What the enforcers report 

The reviews by enforcers highlighted the existing diversity in the presentation 

and disclosure of APMs with regard to the issue prominence. While ESMA 

reports that prominence was an issue in 10% of the annual reports that  

were reviewed, the reports from the national enforcers range from no overall 

concern to issues being identified in every third report. Two of the reports 

highlighted that prominence often remains an issue in narrative parts of 

financial reports such as the chairperson’s statement.  

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Prominence  

ESMA Enforcement and Regulatory Activities of Accounting 

Enforcers in 2017 (March 2018)  

ESMA reported that APMs were displayed with more 

prominence than figures stemming from the financial 

statements in 10% of the 170 annual financial reports  

for 2016 that it reviewed.  

https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
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Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey 

(September 2017) 

IAASA reported that a third of the issuers that used APMs in 

the reviewed reports discussed APMs in narrative disclosures 

such as the chairperson’s report, with no discussion or 

reference either to relevant IFRS measures or other 

measures directly stemming from the financial statements. 

The 

Norwegian 

FSA 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review9 

(September 2017) 

The report from the Norwegian enforcer first presented the 

findings from a self-administered survey completed by 228 

issuers during 2016. The responses to six questions which 

are reproduced below suggest that 15-28% of the issuers 

presented APMs with greater prominence than measures 

presented in the financial statements: 

Assessment criteria: 

APMs presented before IFRS measures 27% 

APMs used more often than IFRS measures 23% 

A more extensive coverage of APMs than IFRS figures  16% 

Only mentions APMs in summary  15% 

Mentions APMs in headings 28% 

Presents APMs in bold 21% 
 

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

The UK FRC reported that most of the reports in the sample, 

taken as a whole, gave equal prominence to APMs and IFRS 

measures. Unbalanced prominence was, however, more of 

an issue in sections such as the chairperson’s statement. 

 

The FRC acknowledged that different views may be taken on when prominence 

is an issue. Thus, when comparing the findings in different surveys, 

discrepancies may be related to methodology. 

  

                                                   
9 This report is not available in English. Original title in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål. 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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UK FRC: Operationalisation of prominence  

 

 

Commentary  

In the extract above, the UK FRC comments on how it has operationalised  

the concept of prominence in two consecutive thematic reviews of the use  

of APMs. The first one, published in November 2016, considered the interim 

financial statements of 20 listed companies published just after the ESMA 

guidelines came into force. The second, published in November 2017, 

focused on APMs in the 2016 annual reports for 20 listed companies.  

 

What reporting entities can do 

In order not to present APMs with undue prominence, entities should consider 

the order and frequency in which APMs and GAAP measures are presented.  

One way entities deal with the issue of prominence is to consistently present 

corresponding measures side by side in tables and figures. See, for example, 

extracts 2.2.1 and 2.2.2. As mentioned, entities also need to consider  

the issue of prominence in narrative sections such as the chairman’s letter.  

The importance that users often attach to such sections only underpins  

the requirement to apply the guidelines in such sections as well.  
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Extract 2.2.1 Berendsen plc (2016) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

In the Financial Review section of the 2016 annual report of Berendsen plc 

key GAAP financial measures and APMs are presented side-by-side, which 

allows a reader to consider the two in conjunction with each other. 
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Extract 2.2.2 Balfour Beatty plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

Financial reports often give prominence to APMs through graphical 

emphasis. One exception to this is reproduced above. Continuing underlying 

revenue is presented alongside statutory revenue, continuing underlying 

loss/profit from operations is matched with statutory loss/profit for the year 

and continuing underlying loss/profit per share is matched with statutory 

EPS. Alongside the bar charts, is a clear cross reference to APM related 

information.  

 

How we see it 
Ensuring that APMs are not presented with more prominence than measures 

from the financial statements can be challenging. A useful technique, 

however, is to ground discussions in financial statement measures and  

use APMs to expand/elaborate on the issue at hand. 
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2.3 Comparatives and consistency 

What the guidelines say 

Guidelines issued by IOSCO require that APMs be provided for comparative 

periods and presented consistently over time. ESMA includes requirements 

similar to IOSCO and clarifies that the requirement to present comparative 

information also extends to reconciliations. 

IOSCO further requires an entity that chooses to change the composition of  

the APMs to explain such changes and the reason for making them. An entity 

should further provide comparative figures for the prior period, with APMs 

adjusted to reflect the change in composition. In case an entity determines  

it will no longer present a particular APM, the reason should be explained. 

In situations where APMs relate to forecasts or estimations, ESMA requires the 

comparatives to be in relation to the last historical information available. If an 

entity decides to change an APM, it should explain the nature and the reason 

for making this change, including why the revised APM is more relevant. If the 

change relates to the definition or the method of calculating an APM, an entity 

also needs to restate comparative numbers. In doing this, the guidelines require 

entities to use information available at the end of the financial period for which 

the APM was presented without incorporating effects of events occurring after 

that moment, i.e., not to use hindsight in restating of comparatives. 

Where it is impracticable to provide comparatives, ESMA requires an entity  

to disclose its impracticability and explain the reasons it is unable to provide 

comparatives. ESMA has also clarified that entities cannot avoid presentation  

of comparatives by including them by cross-reference, i.e., by referring to 

another document where they are available, similar to what may be done for, 

for example, definitions and explanations. 

The regulations in some jurisdictions or certain aspects of those regulations 

might be different from those issued by IOSCO. For example, in South Africa, 

the listing requirement requires an entity to present Headline Earning Per Share 

(HEPS). The requirements prescribe the methodology to compute the HEPS in 

order to achieve consistency by all listed entities. Consequently, in such cases, 

there is no scope to change the composition of the APM or discontinue 

presenting the APM. 

What the enforcers report  

ESMA does not comment on comparatives and consistency on an overall 

European level. On the one hand, two national enforcers report that all entities 

in their sample provided comparatives. On the other hand, another national 

enforcer reports that 78% of its sample did not. Most of these entities, however, 

provided comparatives in the section containing APM related disclosures.  

Only one national enforcer comments on the issue of consistency, noting no 

changes in APMs used by the surveyed entities. This enforcer notes, however, 

that some entities have made changes to the labels used, suggesting that it 

would be consistent with the spirit of the ESMA guidelines, and helpful for 

users, if entities also clearly identified and explained such changes. 
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Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Comparatives and 
Consistency 

Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey 

(September 2017) 

The IAASA reported that 21 of the 27 issuers who used 

APMs did not provide a comparative for all APMs presented 

as required by the ESMA guidelines. IAASA noted that some 

of these issuers presented comparatives in some parts of the 

report, but not in others. IAASA also noted that most of 21 

issuers provided a footnote reference to where APM related 

disclosures, including comparatives, could be found, but 

reminded issuers that comparatives cannot be included by 

reference. 

Norwegian 

FSA 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review10 

(September 2017) 

The Norwegian FSA reported that all entities in their sample 

provided comparatives for APMs. 

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

The UK FRC reported that all entities in the sample provided 

comparatives for each APM and provided reconciliations for 

those comparatives as required by the guidelines, at least 

where reconciliations were provided for the current year 

amounts. The UK FRC also reported that while no entity in 

the sample had changed any definitions, they had noted 

some changes in labelling. 

 

How we see it 
In certain jurisdictions, such as Canada and the US, although the regulations 

do not specifically require comparative information to be presented for 

APMs, substantially all entities present comparative measures. 

What reporting entities can do 

This section includes two examples of disclosures provided in relation to 

changes in APMs. Extract 2.3.1 highlights and explains changes in the definition 

of APMs due to external events. Extract 2.3.2 highlights and explains changes 

in the definition of APMs due to a new management programme.  

  

                                                   
10 This report is not available in English. Original titel in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål. 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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Extract 2.3.1 Danone (2017) France 

 

 

Commentary 

In the 2017 Registration Document, Danone provided APM related 

information in Section 3 on Business Highlights for 2017 and Outlook for 

2018. Like-for-like changes in sales, Recurring operating income, Recurring 

operating margin, Recurring net income and Recurring earnings per share  

are identified as key financial indicators not defined by IFRS. Following an 

explanation of the items excluded to reflect the organic performance, it is 

explained that the measure was amended in 2014 because of inflation  

in Argentina. 
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Extract 2.3.2 Pearson plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

In the “Financial Review” section of its 2017 financial statements, Pearson 

presented “Return on invested capital (ROIC)” as a key financial business 

performance measure used by management to track investment returns and 

to make capital allocation decisions. Pearson also highlighted that, in 2017,  

it amended the composition of this measure by removing impaired goodwill 

from the invested capital balance, as it is no longer used to generate returns. 

Pearson also provided comparative information for both approaches.  

 

2.4 Labels 

What the guidelines say 

Guidelines issued by IOSCO require an entity presenting APMs to clearly label 

them in such a way that they are distinguished from GAAP measures. Further, 

the requirements state that labels should be meaningful and should reflect the 

composition of the APM.  

ESMA also requires entities to provide meaningful labels reflecting their content 

and basis of calculations in order to avoid conveying misleading messages and it 

prohibits entities from using labels that are same or confusingly similar to IFRS. 

In addition, ESMA specifically clarifies that entities should not mislabel items  

as non-recurring, infrequent or unusual and notes that items that affected  

past periods, and will affect future periods, will rarely be considered as non-

recurring, infrequent or unusual (such as restructuring costs or impairment 

losses). 

Similarly, SEC guidelines specifically prohibit adjustments to be identified as 

non-recurring, infrequent, or unusual, when the nature of the charge is such 

that it is reasonably likely to recur within two years, or has occurred within  

the prior two years. Presenting non-GAAP financial measures using titles or 

descriptions of non-GAAP measures that are the same or confusingly similar  

to GAAP titles is also prohibited by the SEC.  
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The IOSCO guidelines further note that entities sometimes seek to adjust  

for items that are reasonably likely to recur in the foreseeable future, or  

are activities that affected the entity in the recent past. Such adjusting items  

are described as non-recurring, infrequent or unusual items. IOSCO believes 

that, in their experience, there are rarely circumstances where a sufficient 

explanation could be provided that would result in, for example, restructuring 

costs or impairment losses being described as non-recurring. Therefore, IOSCO 

requires such items not to be described as non-recurring, infrequent or unusual 

without sufficient explanation. 

What the enforcers report  

While European enforcers report that most issuers generally label APMs 

appropriately, they also note that they continue to identify instances where  

this is not the case. Examples include instances where the labels failed to clearly 

identify whether a measure was an APM rather than an IFRS measure. The UK 

FRC also argues that it may be perceived as misleading to refer to an APM as 

“reported” unless it is reported in the IFRS financial statements.  

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Labels 

ESMA Enforcement and Regulatory Activities of Accounting 

Enforcers in 2017 (March 2018)  

ESMA reports that 6% of the reports did not use appropriate 

labels.  

Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey  

(September 2017) 

IAASA reports that three of the 27 issuers that used APMs 

were not consistent in the use of labels, mixing, for example, 

the use of “like-for -like revenue growth” and “like-for-like 

sales growth”.  

Norwegian 

FSA 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review11  

(September 2017) 

The report from the Norwegian enforcer raises the concern 

that large variations in labelling in itself creates additional 

challenges for comparability.  

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

On the one hand, the UK FRC reports that labels used 

generally reflect their contents and calculation. On the other 

hand, the UK FRC also states that its main concern following 

the review is the indiscriminate use of terms such as  

“non-recurring”, “unusual”, “infrequent” and “one-off” in 

connection with adjustments for items such as restructuring 

costs and impairment charges. The enforcer notes that, for 

larger entities, in particular, “there will be few occasions 

when there is only one event in a period of years which 

drives such charges”.  

                                                   
11 This report is not available in English. Original title in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål. 

https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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Some European enforcers also report that they continue to find APMs where 

entities refer to adjusting items as “non-recurring”, “one-offs” “non-operating”, 

or similar, despite these items having occurred in the past and/or seeming likely 

to occur in future periods. Such comments are often related to, but not limited 

to, restructuring costs. The UK FRC recommends entities to use instead labels 

that reflect the nature of the adjustment and do not imply that they are unlikely 

to recur in future periods. The ESMA report also addresses this issue; 29 of the 

reviewed issuers – corresponding to 22% of the sample – labelled subtotals as 

non-recurring, exceptional, unusual or infrequent. In view of this, ESMA reminds 

issuers that “items that affected past periods and/or are expected to affect 

future periods can rarely be labelled or presented as non-recurring items such 

as most of the restructurings costs or impairment losses”, noting that European 

enforcers have taken nine actions in this respect.  

What reporting entities can do 

Extract 2.4.1 below illustrates how Airbus choose to communicate the decision 

to no longer label certain items as “one-offs”, noting that, instead, the concept 

of “adjustments” / “adjusted” measure will be used.  

Another alternative that is used by some entities is to refer specifically to  

the type of items for which they are adjusted. See extract 2.4.2 below for an 

example of when measures are adjusted for restructuring charges and this is 

reflected in the label of the APM. 
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Extract 2.4.1 Airbus SE (2016) Netherlands 

 

 

Commentary 

The text in the box at the bottom of the contents page in the extract reads: 

For its full-year 2016 financial reporting, Airbus has implemented ESMA’s 

guidelines on APMs. As a result, certain items will no longer be labelled as 

“one-offs”. Such items will instead be labelled as “Adjustments”. Airbus will 

no longer measure and communicate its performance on the basis of “EBIT*” 

(i.e., EBIT pre-goodwill impairment and exceptional items) but on the basis of 

“EBIT” (reported). Terminology will change such that “EBIT* before one-offs” 

will be replaced by “EBIT Adjusted” and “EPS* before one-offs” will be 

replaced by “EPS Adjusted”. 
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Extract 2.4.2 Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson 
(Publ) (2017) 

Sweden 

 

 

Commentary 

Ericsson’s 2017 annual report highlights efficiency improvements and 

restructuring charges. Adjustments for restructuring charges are made  

to two APMs: non-IFRS EPS and operating income excluding restructuring 

charges. Instead of labelling restructuring charges as “one-off” or “non-

recurring” charges, the label itself clearly identifies what the adjustment is.  

 

How we see it 
The use of an incorrect label can be misleading. Even if the APM is 

appropriately defined, there is a risk that the APM will be misinterpreted  

and incorrectly compared to APMs reported by other entities with the same 

label. Therefore, to enhance the usefulness of APMs, representative labels 

are important. 
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2.5 Definitions 

What the guidelines say 

The IOSCO guidelines require entities to define each APM presented and to 

provide a clear explanation of the basis of calculation. ESMA guidelines include 

similar requirements, but also require a definition of components of APM 

including details of any material hypothesis or assumptions used in the 

calculation of APMs.  

ESMA also requires definitions to be disclosed for all APMs used in a clear  

and readable way. The ESMA guidelines also set out that the definition should 

indicate whether the APM relates to past or future reporting periods. 

The IOSCO guidelines further require the definitions to clarify that the APMs  

are not defined in the applicable accounting framework and, therefore, may  

not be comparable with similar measures presented by other entities. 

Most guidelines requires an entity to disclose a definition of all APMs presented. 

The Regulatory Guide 230 issued in Australia explicitly defines the Non-IFRS 

Financial Information12 as financial information presented other than in 

accordance with all relevant accounting standards. The guidelines also define 

Non-IFRS profit information13 as profit information calculated on a basis other 

than IFRS, or calculated in accordance with IFRS but adjusted in some manner. 

What the enforcers report  

ESMA reported that the sample reviewed by European enforcers suggests that 

most issuers provide definitions of all APMs used. However, European enforcers 

also reported that entities did not provide definitions for all of the APMs used in 

the report.  

Missing definitions relate to various measures, suggesting no apparent reason 

why some APMs are not defined. In some cases, however, inconsistent use of 

labels may be an explanation, a definition only being provided for one of the 

labels used. One enforcer noted that the lack of definitions may, in some cases, 

stem from entities not considering a measure to be an APM, i.e., the scope of 

the guidelines might not be clear to all. 

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Definitions 

ESMA Enforcement and Regulatory Activities of Accounting 

Enforcers in 2017 (March 2018)  

ESMA reported that European enforcers observed that 15% 

of issuers did not provide definitions for all APMs used. 

                                                   
12 Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC), Regulatory Guide RG 230.14.  
13 Australian Securities & Investments Commission (ASIC), Regulatory Guide RG 230.17. 

https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
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Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey 

(September 2017) 

The Irish enforcer noted that it is difficult to ascertain if 

definitions are provided for all APMs when APM-related 

disclosures are not collated in a separate section within  

the financial report. This was the case in three of the 27 

reports that included APMs. For a further seven cases, the 

IAASA identified APMs that were not defined in the sections 

with APM disclosures. These measures were common key 

ratios, such as return on capital employed, operating margin, 

total shareholder return, gearing, underlying revenue 

growth, EBITA margin or net debt. 

Norwegian 

FSA 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review14 

(September 2017)  

The Norwegian enforcer concluded that five of the 20 

reports lacked one or more definitions. 

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

The UK FRC reported that all entities in their sample 

provided definitions for APMs used, but that three entities 

did not provide definitions for all APMs. Identified cases of 

missing definitions included APMs such as cash conversion, 

return on invested capital, and organic revenue growth. 

Enforcers also reported that definitions are not always sufficiently clear. One 

concern is that the definition of an APM may include components that are not 

defined in their own right. In a Q&A pertaining to organic growth, ESMA has 

explained that, “to the extent that any components presented are not defined 

or specified in the applicable financial reporting framework, the issuer shall also 

explain their nature and provide the definition of each item”.15 In the context  

of organic growth, one common component in need of a definition is currency 

effects. See section 2.6 on reconciliations for a further discussion and 

illustration. Another concern is that definitions rely on undefined concepts, 

such as, “underlying performance”, “core performance” and “items affecting 

comparability”. 

What reporting entities can do 

Many reporting entities provide clarifying and easily accessible definitions of  

the APMs used. Extract 2.5.1 below presents an example of a definition for  

net debt. Extract 2.5.2 provides an example of a definition for underlying 

performance. 

  

                                                   
14 This report is not available in English. Original title in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål. 
15 Question 15 in Questions and answers: ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance 
Measures (APMs), January/October 2017 | ESMA32-51-370. 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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Extract 2.5.1 Aker Solutions ASA (2017) Norway 

 

 

Commentary 

The 2017 annual report for Aker Solutions presents a separate section on 

APMs directly following the financial statements and the audit report. The 

section differentiates between three categories of APMs: (i) Profit Measures, 

(ii) Financing Measures and (iii) Order Intake Measures, providing brief 

explanations of their use, definitions and reconciliations. In the extract  

above, a reconciliation is included to support the definition. All but one of  

the items listed in the reconciliation are line items presented in the statement  

of financial position. The remaining item is separately explained in a footnote. 

The corresponding disclosures for equity ratio can be found in extract 2.6.1. 
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Extract 2.5.2 Balfour Beatty plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

As noted in section 2.2, Balfour Beatty presents profit measures adjusted  

for non-underlying items. In defining underlying performance, the entity lists 

the types of adjustments made. The actual adjusting items are separately 

identified in the accompanying reconciliation (see extract 2.6.6 below). 

 

How we see it 
Entities should ensure that all APMs are identified and defined. Without  

a clear definition, including the identification of adjusting elements, APMs 

may mislead the users of the financial statements. The risk of misleading 

users escalates if no definition, or misleading definitions, are combined  

with vague or misleading labelling, as discussed above.  
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2.6 Reconciliations 

What the guidelines say 

The IOSCO guidelines require entities to provide a clear and concise 

quantitative reconciliation from the APM to the most directly comparable GAAP 

measure presented in the financial statements explaining the adjustments.  

The guidelines further state that, if the reconciling items are derived from items 

reported in the IFRS financial statements, they should be reconcilable to those 

financial statements. When a reconciling item cannot be extracted directly  

from the financial statements, the reconciliation should show how the figure  

is calculated.  

The US SEC requires quantitative reconciliation to the most directly comparable 

GAAP measure. ESMA in Q&A 1616 reproduced below has clarified that a 

numerical reconciliation is required, showing how the APM is calculated, 

separately identifying and explaining material reconciling items.  

ESMA Q&A 16: Reconciliations  

 

The UK FRC has suggested that in the case of ratios, it expects the numerator 

and the denominator to be stated and, if necessary, reconciled to items in the 

financial statements.17 Similarly, the Swedish enforcer dismissed arguments 

that readers can easily reconcile APMs through provided definitions on the basis 

that the ESMA guidelines require a reconciliation.18 

ESMA clarified that, in certain instances, an APM, or an adjustment, may not  

be reconcilable to a measure in the financial statements. This may, for example,  

be the case for profit estimates, future projections or profit forecasts. In such 

cases, entities are required to explain the consistency with the accounting 

policies in the financial statements. 

Although the SEC guidelines do not have specific requirements regarding 

determination of reconciling items, SEC staff have issued guidance requiring 

registrants to clarify how figures are calculated. 

What the enforcers report  

European enforcers report that all or most entities provide reconciliations, but 

not always for all APMs. While ESMA reports that 20% of the European sample 

entities did not provide reconciliations for all APMs, corresponding percentages 

observed in other reports appears to be higher. 

                                                   
16 Questions 16 in Questions and answers: ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance 
Measures (APMs), October 2017 | ESMA32-51-370. 
17 Page 14, UK FRC (November 2017) ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APMs). 
18 Page 11, NASDAQ STOCKHOLM, MONITORING OF PERIODIC FINANCIAL  
INFORMATION 2017 www.nasdaqomx.com/nordicsurveillance (click to: Redovisningstillsyn). 
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Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Reconciliations 

ESMA Enforcement and Regulatory Activities of Accounting 

Enforcers in 2017 (March 2018)  

ESMA reported that 20% of the 170 European issuers in  

the sample did not provide reconciliations for all APMs used 

as required by the guidelines. 

Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey  

(September 2017) 

Three of the 27 issuers in the sample that used APMs 

appeared not to provide reconciliations. Another 14 issuers 

did not provide reconciliations for all of the identified APMs 

including, for example, APMs such as constant currency 

measures, return on average capital employed and operating 

profit measures. 

Norwegian 

FSA 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review19 

(September 2017)  

The enforcer reported that 8 of the sample entities (40%)  

did not provide reconciliations for all identified APMs. 

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

The UK FRC reported that at least one reconciliation was 

missing in 12 (60%) of the sampled reports and that the most 

common omissions were for APMs such as return on capital 

and similar ratios, free cash flow and cash conversion. 

 

What reporting entities can do 

The first extract below illustrates a reconciliation of a simple ratio based on two 

measures from the financial statements. The following two extracts reproduce 

reconciliations of adjusted profit measures and the fourth extract illustrates  

a reconciliation of a return measure based on an adjusted profit measure. 

Extract 2.6.1 Aker Solutions ASA (2017) Norway 

 

 

                                                   
19 This report is not available in English. Original title in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål. 

https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
https://www.esma.europa.eu/system/files_force/library/esma32-63-424_report_on_enforcement_activities_2017.pdf?download=1
http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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Commentary 

As seen in extract 2.5.1, Aker Solutions presented APM-related disclosures in 

a separate section of the 2017 annual report. APMs are grouped in different 

categories and reconciliations are presented alongside explanations and 

definitions, e.g., for Net current operating assets (NCOA). The individual 

balance sheet line items are directly identifiable in the financial statements. 

 

Extract 2.6.2 Gränges publ AB (2017) Sweden 

 

 

Commentary 

In a separate section of its 2017 annual report, Gränges identifies five APMs 

including “Adjusted operating profit” and “Adjusted EBITDA”.  

In the extract above, Gränges reconciles “Adjusted operating profit“ to 

operating profit, which is a subtotal in the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. The reconciling item is identified as “Items 

affecting comparability“. Since this corresponds to a separate line item  

in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with  

a specification in a note to the financial statements no further explanation  

of the reconciling item is provided. 

Gränges similarly reconciles “Adjusted EBITDA“ to “operating profit“ by 

adding to the previous specification a second reconciling item: depreciation 

and amortisations. Again, this corresponds to a separate line item in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  
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Extract 2.6.3 Serco plc (2017) UK 

 

 

 

Commentary 

In the “Finance Review” section in its 2017 annual report, Serco identified 

seven Key Performance Indicators. One of these is “Underlying Trading 

Profit“ (UTP). The APM is defined, its relevance to the entity’s strategy is 

explained and the entity’s performance in terms of the APM is discussed in 

the Strategic Report. Further information is provided in a separate section  

on APMs. The extract above is from this section. The reconciliation starts 

with the APM and identifies the various items that reconcile the APM to 

operating profit, a subtotal in the reported statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income. 
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Extract 2.6.4 Pearson plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

Pearson’s 2017 annual report includes a separate section on corporate and 

operating measures after the financial statements. This section details, 

reconciles and explains a number of APMs including “return on invested 

capital“. In the extract above, Pearson reconciled the numerator, the 

“return”, to “adjusted operating profit”, which is directly identifiable in Note 

2 on segments. In the said note, this measure is also reconciled to “operating 

profit”, a line item in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income.  

This extract, as well as others, illustrates that a reader is required to visit 

different sections of the reports to fully comprehend the APMs. In some 

cases, because the required disclosures are spread out in different locations, 

users may overlook essential information. Therefore, placing all APM 

disclosures in one location may enhance the communication effectiveness.  

As noted in section 2.5 on Definitions above, ESMA highlighted that organic 

growth is an APM and requires the same disclosures as all other APMs including 

reconciliations. When providing such a reconciliation, ESMA states that the 

entity must present not only the total change in revenues that can be derived 

from the financial statements, but also the disaggregation of the other 

components attributable to organic growth. For an example of a reconciliation 

of organic growth, see extract 2.6.5 below. 
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Extract 2.6.5 Modern Times Group MTG AB (publ) (2017) Sweden 

 

 

Commentary 

In its 2017 annual report, MTG listed all APMs in the table of contents  

with a clear cross-reference to APM-related disclosures. Definitions  

and reconciliations are provided separately. The extract above details  

the reconciliation of organic growth specifying the effect of acquisitions/ 

disposals and foreign exchange rate movements for each of the reported 

segments and the group as a whole. 

Some preparers have expressed concerns about providing reconciliations for  

all APMs on a recurring basis, as it may “overload” the financial reports. By 

providing the disclosures in one location, this concern is less relevant. Extract 

2.6.6 below reproduces an example of how reconciliation disclosures on 

different APMs can be provided in the same table. 
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Extract 2.6.6 Balfour Beatty plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

As noted in extracts 2.2.2 and 2.5.2, Balfour Beatty provided APM-related 

disclosures as part of its Strategic Report for 2017. All reconciliations of 

various statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income related 

APMs were presented in one table. 

One practice observed in some jurisdictions is to provide a reconciliation by 

presenting, alongside the definition, the numerical calculation (see extract 

2.6.8 for an example). 
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Extract 2.6.8 HiQ AB (publ) (2017) Sweden 

 

 

Commentary 

In its annual report for 2017, HiQ showed the calculations of each APM 

alongside the corresponding definitions. Many of the components specified  

in the various definitions are line items, totals or subtotals presented in  

the financial statements. A separate reconciliation is thus not needed.  

 

How we see it 
• Reconciliations should enable users of financial reports to understand 

both how the APM has been calculated and how it differs from GAAP 

measures. Entities should thus make sure to include a reconciliation,  

and not only show how an APM has been calculated. 

• For ratios to enhance the usefulness of the APMs, both the numerator  

and the denominator should be stated, and, if necessary, reconciled to 

items presented in the financial statements.  

• If the entity uses many and/or complex APMs, reconciliations may  

be lengthy. Entities are encouraged to carefully consider how best to 

communicate such information to users. Entities should, for example, 

avoid requiring readers to visit different sections of the reports to fully 

comprehend an APM as this may lead to users overlooking essential 

information. Therefore, in some cases, placing all APM disclosures in  

one location, may enhance the communication effectiveness.  
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2.7 Explanations 

What the guidelines say 

IOSCO guidelines require entities to explain the reason for presenting the APMs, 

including an explanation of why the information is useful to investors, and for 

what additional purposes, if any, management uses the measure. 

ESMA and the SEC have similar requirements. Entities should explain why  

they believe that an APM provides useful information regarding the financial 

position, cash flows or financial performance as well as the purposes for which 

the specific APM is used. The US SEC requires a statement, to the extent 

material, disclosing additional purposes, if any, for which the management  

uses APMs. 

Guidelines issued in Australia also require a statement disclosing the reasons 

why directors believe that presentation of the non-IFRS financial information  

is useful for investors to understand the entity’s financial condition and results 

of operation. The guidelines further state that this statement should not be 

boilerplate, but clear, understandable and specific to the non-IFRS financial 

information used, the entity, the nature of the business and industry, and the 

manner in which the non-IFRS financial information is assessed and applied to 

decisions. 

What the enforcers report  

The report from ESMA did not separately comment on the existence of 

explanations for the use of APMs. The Norwegian enforcer noted that 

explanations were missing in 45% of the sample, while the UK FRC identified 

explanations in all but one of the reviewed reports. In its review of the 2016 

annual reports, the Swedish enforcer noted “an increased use of boiler plate 

language, where issuers use an introductory paragraph to the list of definitions” 

intended to cover all APMs. The explanations are often phrased in terms of 

providing enhanced or additional insights into the financial development of the 

reporting entity and/or providing comparability between reporting periods and 

segments. Therefore, in the Swedish enforcer’s view, it is questionable whether 

the requirements of the ESMA guidelines are met in many cases.20  

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Explanations 

Norwegian 

FSA 

Alternative performance measures – thematic review21 

(September 2017)  

The enforcer noted that only 11 of the 20 entities in their 

sample (55%) provided explanations of all the APMs used. 

                                                   
20 Page 11, NASDAQ STOCKHOLM, MONITORING OF PERIODIC FINANCIAL  
INFORMATION 2017 www.nasdaqomx.com/nordicsurveillance (click to: Redovisningstillsyn). 
21 This report is not available in English. Original title in Norwegian: Tematilsyn om Alternative 
Resultatmål. 
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UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

The UK FRC reported that all but one of the sample entities 

explained their use of APMs, noting also that two entities 

only asserted the usefulness of their APMs without 

explaining why. While the UK FRC has previously expressed 

concerns over cursory or boilerplate explanations, stating, 

for example, that the figures “better reflect the performance 

of the business”, the enforcer reported that this was only  

a concern in a few of the sample cases. 

Along-side high-level explanations of the use of APMs, many entities also 

present a “health warning”, alerting users to the fact that the APMs are  

non-GAAP measures and/or unlikely to be comparable to APMs used by other 

entities. Noting that 45% of the UK sample included a “health warning” of  

some kind, the UK FRC argued that while “helpful in alerting readers to the 

limitations of APMs” they should be kept concise “as they will inevitably tend 

to be boilerplate”.22 

Furthermore, recent SEC comment letters to Foreign Private Issuers suggest 

that the lack of disclosures describing the usefulness of APMs as compared to 

IFRS measures is a major concern of the SEC.  

What reporting entities can do  

The first two extracts below (2.7.1 and 2.7.2) illustrate how high-level 

explanations and health-warnings may be used as means of introducing the  

use of APMs. This is followed by extracts of explanations for sales-related APMs 

(2.7.3), underlying profit measures (2.7.4), EBITDA (2.7.5 and 2.7.6), adjusting 

items to profit measures (2.7.7 and 2.7.8) and net-debt measures (2.7.9 and 

2.7.10). 

                                                   
22 Page 13, UK FRC (November 2017) ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APMs). 

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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Extract 2.7.1 Anglo-American plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

Already in the introduction to its 2017 annual report, Anglo-American 

provided a high-level explanation for the use of APMs and a clear cross-

reference to explanation and reconciliations of each APM to the closest 

equivalent measure under IFRS. It also included a health-warning, alerting 

users to the limits of APMs. 
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Extract 2.7.2 Balfour Beatty plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

Following the issuance of the ESMA guidelines, Balfour Beatty added  

a section in its annual report with the aim of providing transparency on  

the APMs adopted to assess performance. The section, which is presented  

as part of the Strategic Report prior to the financial statements, starts with  

a general explanation for the use of APMs and advises users not to rely 

exclusively on these measures. This is followed by further information in 

relation to each individual APM. 

Extract 2.7.3 presents two examples of explanations for two sales-related  

APMs used by Tesco. Extract 2.7.4 illustrates how Balfour Beatty highlighted 

the relevance of two performance related APMs for different segments, also 

addressing the difference between the two measures.  
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Extract 2.7.3 Tesco plc 2016/2017 UK 

 

 

Commentary 

In its strategic report for 2016/2017, Tesco identifies Group sales as one  

of “Big 6 KPIs”. While Tesco provides a short explanation in this section,  

the measure is identified as an APM with a cross-reference to the section in 

the annual report where more information is provided. Here it is explained 

that this is “the headline measure of revenue for the Group” and that  

“it excludes the impact of sales made at petrol filling stations due to  

the significant volatility of fuel prices”, a volatility that is “outside the control 

of management and can mask underlying changes in performance”. The  

APM section of Tesco’s strategic report also provides a summary table with 

information on APMs indicating that users can find a reconciliation of this 

measure in Note 2 to the financial statements and that the measure is a key 

management incentive metric.  

While like-for-like sales are not identified as a KPI, they are an APM that is 

used extensively in the report at a segment level. They are also defined and 

their use is explained in the section on APMs. 
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Extract 2.7.4 Balfour Beatty plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

In a section on “Performance measures used to assess the Group’s 

operations in the year”, Balfour Beatty presents two APMs: Underlying profit 

from operations (PFO) and Underlying profit before tax (PBT). It explains that 

it used PFO to assess the Group’s performance in two segments and that PBT 

is used for another segment. Note that the section on PBT explains how and 

why this measure differs from PFO. 

As noted in the introduction to this publication, most APMs are performance 

measures. Also, in an IFRS context, even seemingly straightforward operating 

profit/earnings before interests and taxes (EBIT) measure represents an APM. 

Another common performance measure is earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA). Explanations provided for excluding 

the effect of depreciation and amortisation charges when measuring 

operational financial performance include that it is a common measure 

(comparability) and that it approximates the underlying operating cash flows. 

When entities are providing the latter explanation, they are in effect comparing 

a performance measure with a liquidity measure. The US SEC’s guidelines 

explicitly distinguish performance measures from liquidity measures. 

The real focus of attention for the APM debate, however, is on the adjusted 

performance measures, such as adjusted EBIT and EBITDA and the explanations 

for, and consistency in, the various additional adjustments made by 

management in arriving at these measures. See extract 2.7.5 for an example  

of such an explanation. Also, refer to the preceding discussions of definition  

of adjusting items in section 2.3 and reconciliations of adjusted measures in 

section 2.5.  
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Extract 2.7.5 Petroleum Geo Service ASA (2017) Norway 

 

 

Commentary 

Key financial figures for Petroleum Geo-Services (PGS) in the 2017 annual 

report included EBITDA and EBIT “excluding impairment and other charges”. 

“EBIT as reported” corresponded to operating profit (loss) in the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Management of PGS 

explained the use of EBITDA in terms of providing information on the entity’s 

ability to service debt and fund capital expenditures, as well as comparability 

with peers. Similarly, PGS explained “EBIT excluding impairment and other 

charges” in terms of providing a measure for the performance of the group 

disregarding the effects of certain events and decisions.  

Often APMs are derived by removing from measures in the financial 

statements, the effect of various types of events or transactions. When the 

same adjustments are made in deriving more than one APM, entities sometimes 

provide explanations for such adjustments collectively. See previous examples 

relating to items affecting comparability and reconciliations of adjusted APMs, 

and extracts 2.7.6 and 2.7.7 for two more examples. 
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Extract 2.7.6a Marks & Spencer plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

In Marks & Spencer’s 2017 annual report and financial statements, the 

reader is made aware of the use of APMs on page one, with a cross-reference 

to APM-related information. In the section with APM-related information, it is 

explained that adjustments are made for items (costs or income) considered 

being significant in nature and/or value in order to provide readers with 

additional information on the year-on-year performance and that the 

measures are consistent with how performance is reported to the Board and 

the Operating Committee. 
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Extract 2.7.6b Marks & Spencer plc (2017) UK 
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Extract 2.7.7a Norsk Hydro ASA (2017) Norway 

 

 

Commentary 

Underlying EBIT was a key figure in Norsk Hydro’s 2017 annual report. APM-

related information was provided as part of the Board of directors’ report.  

An introductory text reproduced below first explained that APMs supplement 

financial statement information and are intended to enhance comparability 

from period to period and that the APMs are used by management for long-

term target setting and as basis for performance related pay. It further 

explained that APMs were derived by excluding items that, in the view of 

management, do not give an indication of the periodic operating results or 

cash flows. In a separate section, also reproduced below, two categories of 

adjusting items are then identified. A detailed specification is also provided in 

a table after which each adjusting item is explained. The latter explanations 

are not reproduced below, but can be found in the appendix to the Board of 

directors’ report in the annual report. 
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Extract 2.7.7b Norsk Hydro ASA (2017) Norway 

 

Although most APMs are related to the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income measures, other APMs require explanations. See 

extracts 2.7.8 and 2.7.9 for two explanations of net-debt. 
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Extract 2.7.8 BT Group plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

Net debt is frequently used in discussing the group’s performance in  

the 2017 Annual Report and Form 20-F for BT Group. For example,  

a waterfall table, showing key movements in net-debt, and a table specifying 

key components of net debt, are presented in the strategic report. In the 

section for APM-related disclosures, net debt is explained as a measure  

of net indebtedness, providing an indicator of the overall balance sheet 

strength. Net debt is also presented as a measure that can be used to assess 

the group’s cash position, noting, however, that the cash included in the net 

debt calculation is not necessarily available to settle the liabilities included in 

the measure. 
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Extract 2.7.9 Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (2017) Norway 

 

 

Commentary 

Key financial figures for PGS in the 2017 annual report include “Net Interest 

Bearing Debt”. In the section with APM-related disclosures, management 

explains that the measure provides an indication of the hypothetical 

minimum necessary debt financing. 

The notes to the financial statements explain that management monitors 

leverage based on net debt and "generally seeks to keep net debt below  

two times annual EBITDA in the weak part of a business cycle and below  

one times annual EBITDA in a strong market”. 

 

How we see it 
• Some entities use a number of APMs, sometimes more than twenty.  

In such cases, management should carefully consider the reason for  

the use of the APMs. It may be that one or more APMs are perceived  

as redundant. This may sometimes become evident when management  

is drafting the explanatory disclosures. 

• Presenting multiple measures that are similar in nature requires  

an explanation for the different measures used, and also requires 

management to consider whether the same could be achieved even if  

one or more of the APMs were removed.  

• If issuers cannot explain how an APM is useful for investors, or other 

users of the financial report, then management needs to reconsider its 

use. 
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2.8. Location  

What the guidelines say 

The guidelines generally require APM-related disclosures to be provided in the 

same document as the APMs themselves.  

The ESMA guidelines state that the required disclosures (definitions, 

reconciliations and explanations, but not comparatives) may be incorporated by 

reference to another previously published document that is readily accessible to 

users. The ESMA guidelines specify that such references should direct users to 

the information, suggesting the use of hyperlinks to the relevant documents  

or precise reference identifying the relevant page, section or chapter of the 

documents. 

Guidelines issued in Australia include explicit guidance on the placement of  

non-GAAP financial information. The guidelines state that non-GAAP financial 

information must not be included as additional columns of financial statements 

or presented in a separate section below a financial statement. The guidelines 

further state that, in the rare circumstances where non-GAAP financial 

information is necessary to give a true and fair view of the financial position  

and performance of an entity, the directors’ report must set out the directors’ 

reasons for forming the opinion that the inclusion of the information was 

necessary to give a true and fair view, as required by the relevant regulations. 

In addition to the above, the guidelines require the auditor to form an opinion 

on whether the additional information was necessary to give a true and fair 

view as required by the relevant regulations. 

See section 3 for a further discussion on APMs and APM related information 

provided within IFRS financial statements.  

What the enforcers report 

Some enforcers have reported on the topic of the location of APM-related 

disclosures. Practices appear to be mixed, with some entities providing the 

information before and some after the financial statements. A large minority 

also provide APM-related disclosures in the financial statements.  

Reviews on the application of ESMA guidelines: Definitions 

Ireland 

IAASA 

Alternative performance measures - thematic survey 

(September 2017) 

26% Separate section before the financial statements 

44% Separate section at the back of the annual report 

11% Split between front and back of the annual report 

 7% Within notes to the financial statements 

11% No separate section for APM information 
 

UK 

FRC 

Corporate reporting thematic review: Alternative 

performance measures (APMs) (November 2017) 

60% Separate section before the financial statements 

30% Separate section at the back of the annual report 

10% Within notes to the financial statements 
 

 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/1fd03585-c071-45a6-bc01-cca56ca8925e/2017_09_05-APM-Thematic-final-for-publication.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/ff987c01-416f-4635-8dba-fdda5530f4b5/091117-APMs-CRR-thematic-review.pdf
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What reporting entities can do  

Providing transparent and clear definitions, reconciliations and explanations  

of APMs entails significant additional disclosures. The amount of information 

increases both with the number and complexity of the APMs. Providing the 

information in an efficient and useful manner can be challenging.  

On the one hand, users of financial reports may find it helpful to find definitions, 

explanations and reconciliations presented in the context where the APM is 

used. For example, many UK entities present the definition of key performance 

measures (which tend to be APMs) in the strategic report. See extracts 2.8.1 

and 2.8.2 for two examples. Full APM-disclosures, on the other hand, may 

disrupt the flow of the overall narrative. While this would suggest deferring 

some disclosures, users may also find it useful if all APM-related disclosures  

are collated in one place.  

Extract 2.8.1 BT Group plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

The Strategic Report in the 2017 annual report for BT Group contained  

a separate section detailing the entities financial KPIs. In the extract above, 

the section discussed the entity’s performance against each of these KPIs, 

also providing an explanation of how each measure was defined. The 

introduction to the section referred to reconciliations being available in  

a separate section on financial measures after the financial statements. 
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Extract 2.8.2 Serco Group plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

The Strategic Report in the 2017 annual report for Serco contains  

a separate section detailing the entities key performance indicators. As can 

be seen from the extract above, the section detailed the definition of the 

measure, explained its relevance to the strategy and discussed the 

performance in terms of the measure. 

Although many variations may be observed, most financial reports include  

a separate section with all, or most of the APM-related disclosures. This  

section typically includes at a minimum, definitions and explanations. 

Sometimes reconciliations are also provided, sometimes the section instead 

cross-refers to other parts of the report where reconciliations are presented 

separately. Reconciliations may be found in management commentary sections 

and in the notes to the financial statements, often the note with segment-

related information. Some entities provide reconciliations in a separate 

document published on the website. See extract 2.8.3 below for an example.  
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Extract 2.8.3 Mekonomen AB publ (2017) Sweden 

 

 

Commentary 

Mekonomen presented definitions for APMs in a separate section of its 2017 

annual report following the financial statements together with a general 

glossary. On the same page, there was also high-level explanation for the  

use of APMs and a cross-reference to reconciliations available in a separate 

document available at the entity’s homepage. 

 

Extract 2.8.4 IMI plc (2017) UK 
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Commentary 

In the 2017 annual report for IMI plc, APMs are first mentioned on page 1 

following a table with 2017 highlights. A footnote explains that many  

of the identified measures are “non statutory alternative performance 

measures” and refers readers to two specific pages for explanations and 

rationales for using these measures, as well as the associated definitions  

and reconciliations to statutory measures. The interested reader can follow 

this reference to note 2.1.1 to the financial statements, with segmental 

information. The extract above reproduces parts of this note, including  

the introduction and an introductory table setting out the definitions and 

where required reconciliations can be found. 

 

How we see it 
• When entities determine where to locate APM-related disclosures,  

the overall objective should be to facilitate effective communication  

with the users of the financial reports. 

• In some cases, including the disclosures adjacent to the communication  

of the APMs themselves might be best, while, in other cases, locating  

all APM related disclosures in one place might be more effective. 

• Entities should consider the options current technology provides when 

deciding on how to best facilitate users’ access to APM related 

disclosures.  

2.9 Assurance 

What the guidelines say 

Guidelines issued in Australia require an entity to make a clear statement as  

to whether the non-IFRS financial information has been audited or reviewed  

in accordance with the relevant accounting standards. 

Other than as stated above, guidelines issued by the regulators included in the 

sample collected for this publication do not include any specific requirements 

with respect to assurance of APM measures. 

What the enforcers report  

APM guidelines issued by regulators generally do not address assurance. 

However, there are enforcement decisions in certain jurisdictions regarding  

the scoping of audits of financial statements including non-GAAP information.   
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What reporting entities can do 

Some entities clearly identify APMs and APM-related disclosures as 

“unaudited“. See extracts 2.9.1 and 2.9.2 for two examples. 

Extract 2.9.1 Amcor Limited (2017) Australia 

 

 

Commentary 

The contents page for Amcor’s 2017 annual report identifies the use of 

certain APMs in the report, noting specifically that they were not audited. 
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Extract 2.9.2 Vodafone Group plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

Vodafone Group provided APM-related information in a separate section after 

the financial statements in its 2017 annual report. As can be seen in the 

extract above, the heading for this section is clearly tagged “unaudited”. This 

information was repeated on each page  

of this section. 

 

How we see it 
Guidelines issued by regulators generally do not include any requirements 

regarding assurance. However, there may be local audit regulations or 

similar that address inclusion of unaudited information in audited financial 

statements. Entities must therefore carefully consider the applicable 

requirements in the relevant jurisdiction.  
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3. APMs in financial statements 
As noted at the outset, this publication takes the view that an APM is a financial 

measure that is not defined or specified in IFRS. This means that a line item or 

subtotal presented in the financial statements that is not specified or defined by 

IFRS, is considered to be an APM. 

For the purposes of presentation and disclosure of financial statements, this 

distinction is generally unimportant. The guidelines presented in section two 

generally only apply to APMs when presented outside the financial statements 

and IFRS generally does not consider whether the measures are used outside 

the financial statements. IFRS also provides reporting entities with some 

flexibility in presenting and disclosing APMs within the financial statements.  

While some IFRS reporters use this flexibility to tailor their financial statements 

to communicate their APMs, other entities do not. However, some regulators 

have noted that an overwhelming majority of IFRS reporters include line items 

and subtotals in their financial statements that are not required by IFRS, 

resulting in a high level of diversity that may reduce comparability. Regulators, 

therefore, appear generally supportive of the IASB’s ongoing project to 

consider how IFRS can be amended to provide clearer guidance in respect  

of presentation and disclosure of APMs within the financial statements. 

Some are of the view that the inclusion of APMs and APM related information 

(e.g., definitions) in the financial statements ensures greater transparency  

and confidence, as the financial statements are subject to assurance by way  

of external audits (however, see section 2.9 above). Presenting the APMs in  

the primary financial statements may also make it easier for users to reconcile 

APMs used in management commentary with the financial statements.  

Others are concerned that the presentation of APMs in the financial statements 

may lead to APMs being presented with the same prominence as IFRS 

measures. The inclusion of APMs in the financial statements may also 

potentially increase clutter and reduce comparability across entities, thus, 

potentially confusing users of financial statements.  

This section first outlines current IFRS requirements with regard to  

the presentation of APMs and APM-related information within the financial 

statements. Section 3.2 summarises different enforcement actions on  

the topic, while section 3.3 presents some examples of current practices. 

Assurance, the IASB discussion paper on principles of disclosure, and future 

developments are discussed in sections 3.4 – 3.6.  

3.1 What IFRS say 

In outlining relevant IFRS requirements with regard to the presentation of APMs 

and APM related information within the financial statements, this section 

addresses four topics:  

1. Presentation of non-IFRS measures alongside the IFRS financial statements  

2. Presentation of additional line items and subtotals in the primary financial 

statements 

3. Presenting items of income or expense as extraordinary or similar 

4. Requirements to disclose management performance measures 
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Presentation of non-IFRS measures alongside IFRS financial statements 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements requires entities to clearly identify 

and distinguish IFRS financial statements from other information in the same 

published document. In some jurisdictions, this requirement is understood  

to prohibit the presentation of non-IFRS measures alongside the financial 

statements, e.g., in additional columns alongside the IFRS primary financial 

statements, through additional lines beneath the IFRS primary financial 

statements or in the notes to the financial statements. In other jurisdictions, 

such presentation has been accepted as long as the IFRS financial statement 

information is clearly identified.  

Extract from IAS 1 

49 An entity shall clearly identify the financial statements and distinguish 

them from other information in the same published document. 

As noted in section 2.8, the guidelines issued in Australia set out that non-GAAP 

financial information must not be included as additional columns of financial 

statements or presented in a separate section below a financial statement.  

How we see it 
• While some may find it useful to present APMs alongside the primary 

financial statements – providing users with a clear reconciliation to  

the IFRS financial statements – such presentation is not accepted by  

all regulators. Entities, therefore, need to check with local guidelines.  

Presentation of additional line items and subtotals 

IFRS format requirements are primarily set out in IAS 1 and IAS 7 Statement of 

Cash flows. Generally, only some line items are required, but only if these are 

material. There are, for example, no specific requirements for any subtotals in 

neither the statement of financial position nor the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income.23  

Extract from IAS 1 

81A The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
(statement of comprehensive income) shall present, in addition to 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income sections: 
a) profit or loss; 
b) total other comprehensive income; 
c) comprehensive income for the period, being the total of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income. 

If an entity presents a separate statement of profit or loss it does not 

present the profit or loss section in the statement presenting 

comprehensive income. 

However, entities are required to present additional line items and subtotals in 

the statement of financial position and the statement(s) presenting profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income, when such presentation is relevant to 

the understanding of the entity’s financial position or financial performance.  

                                                   
23 See IAS 1.54 for the statement of financial position, IAS 1.81A for totals in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (reproduced above) and IAS 1.82 and IAS 1.82A 
for line items in the same statements, IAS 1.106 for the statement of changes in equity. See 
IAS 7 for the statement of cash flows. 

http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/ViewContent?collection=2018_Annotated_Issued_Standards_(Red_Book)&fn=IAS1o_2007-09-01_en-4.html&scrollTo=F3902997
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Extract from IAS 1 

55 An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating 

the line items listed in paragraph 54), headings and subtotals in the 

statement of financial position when such presentation is relevant to  

an understanding of the entity’s financial position. 

85 An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating 

the line items listed in paragraph 82), headings and subtotals in the 

statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s 

financial performance. 

When an entity presents additional subtotals, IAS 1 sets out certain 

requirements, including that they are labelled in a manner that makes the line 

items that constitute the subtotal clear and understandable and that they are 

not displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in 

IFRS. 

Extract from IAS 1 

55A When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 55, 

those subtotals shall:  

a) be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and 
measured in accordance with IFRS; 

b) be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items 
that constitute the subtotal clear and understandable; 

c) be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 
45; and 

d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and 
totals required in IFRS for the statement of financial position. 

85A When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 85, 

those subtotals shall:  

a) be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and 
measured in accordance with IFRS; 

b) be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items 
that constitute the subtotal clear and understandable; 

c) be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 
45; and 

d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and 
totals required in IFRS for the statement(s) presenting profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 

85B An entity shall present the line items in the statement(s) presenting 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income that reconcile any subtotals 

presented in accordance with paragraph 85 with the subtotals or totals 

required in IFRS for such statement(s). 
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Current IAS 1 has omitted a previous requirement to present the results of 

operating activities as a line item on the face of the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income. The Basis for Conclusions on IAS 1 explains 

that the reasons for this is that “operating activities“ is not a defined term.24 

Recognising that entities may present, or disclose, the results of operating 

activities, the basis for conclusion of IAS 1 states that entities should ensure 

that the amounts disclosed are “representative of activities that would normally 

be regarded as ‘operating’”.25 The basis also explains that, in the IASB’s view, 

“it would be misleading and would impair the comparability of financial 

statements if items of an operating nature were excluded from the results of 

operating activities, even if that had been industry practice”.26 The two sets of 

inappropriate exclusions are specifically identified: (1) inventory write-downs, 

restructuring and relocation expenses and (2) depreciation and amortisation 

expenses. 

How we see it 
• In the past, many understood IAS 1 to allow entities to present 

additional line items and subtotals when relevant to the understanding 

of an entity’s financial position or performance. More recently, some 

emphasise that the standard requires entities to present additional line 

items and subtotals when relevant to the understanding of the entities 

financial position or performance. 

• Use of financial measures outside the financial statements, e.g., in 

management commentary, may suggest that these measures are relevant 

to the understanding of the entities financial performance and position.  

• The presentation of APMs may be impacted by local regulations. There 

may, for example, be local restrictions on the presentation of non-GAAP 

measures in the financial statements. 

Presenting items of income or expense as extraordinary or similar 

IAS 1 requires separate disclosure of the nature and amount of items of income 

or expense that are material. In line with the permissive approach taken to  

the format of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

discussed above, this information may be given on the face of the statement  

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes. However, 

entities must observe that IAS 1 specifically prohibits entities to present items 

of income or expense as “extraordinary items“ in the statements of profit  

or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes to these financial 

statements. 

                                                   
24 IAS 1.BC55. 
25 IAS 1.BC56. 
26 IAS 1.BC56. 

http://eifrs.ifrs.org/eifrs/ViewContent?collection=2018_Annotated_Blue_Book&fn=IAS1o_2007-09-01_en-4.html&scrollTo=F3903008
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Extract from IAS 1 

87 An entity shall not present any items of income or expense as 

extraordinary items, in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income or in the notes. 

97 When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose 

their nature and amount separately. 

98 Circumstances that would give rise to the separate disclosure of items 

of income and expense include: 

a) write-downs of inventories to net realisable value or of property, 
plant and equipment to recoverable amount, as well as reversals of 
such write-downs; 

b) restructurings of the activities of an entity and reversals of any 
provisions for the costs of restructuring; 

c) disposals of items of property, plant and equipment; 
d) disposals of investments; 
e) discontinued operations; 
f) litigation settlements; and 
g) other reversals of provisions 

The statement on the use of the term “extraordinary items“ derives from  

the fact that earlier versions of the standard required a distinction to be made 

between ordinary activities (and the results of them) and extraordinary items. 

The basis for conclusions to IAS 1 explains that the removal of this distinction, 

and the prohibition on the presentation of extraordinary items, was made to 

avoid arbitrary segregation of an entity’s performance. 

How we see it 
• While IAS 1 prohibits the use of the label “extraordinary“ in the context  

of items of income and expenses, the standard is silent on the use of 

similar terms such as “exceptional“ and “unusual“. While such terms are 

frequently used in some jurisdictions, there may be local restrictions on 

the separate presentation of infrequently occurring items in the financial 

statements, especially if the objective is to differentiate between ordinary 

(recurring) and non-ordinary (non-recurring) performance. 

Requirements to disclose APMs in financial statements 

Although there are no explicit requirements to disclose APMs or APM-related 

information in IFRS financial statements, there are various requirements in  

IFRS that may potentially require such disclosures.  

One example is the requirement to disclose in the notes to IFRS financial 

statements, information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial 

statements which is relevant to an understanding of the financial statements.27 

If line items or subtotals have been included on grounds of being relevant to  

the understanding of the financial performance or position, then definitions  

and explanations of these may be relevant to the understanding of the financial 

statements. As with the requirement to include additional line items or 

subtotals, entities must apply judgement in considering which information in 

relation to APMs is relevant to an understanding of the financial statements.  

                                                   
27 IAS 1.112. 
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Extract from IAS 1 

112 The notes shall: 

 […] 

c) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial 
statements, but is relevant to an understanding of any of them. 

Another example is the requirement to disclose information that enables  

the users of financial statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies  

and processes for managing capital.28 The standard specifically requires 

entities to base these disclosures on the information provided internally to  

key management personnel. Such information may include various APMs  

and APM related information. 

Extract from IAS 1 

134 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial 

statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for 

managing capital. 

135 To comply with paragraph 134, the entity discloses the following: 

a) qualitative information about its objectives, policies and processes 
for managing capital, including: 

i. a description of what it manages as capital; 

ii. when an entity is subject to externally imposed capital 

requirements, the nature of those requirements and how those 

requirements are incorporated into the management of capital; 

and 

iii. how it is meeting its objectives for managing capital. 

b) summary quantitative data about what it manages as capital. 
Some entities regard some financial liabilities (eg some forms of 
subordinated debt) as part of capital. Other entities regard capital 
as excluding some components of equity (eg components arising 
from cash flow hedges); 

c) any changes in (a) and (b) from the previous period. 
d) whether during the period it complied with any externally imposed 

capital requirements to which it is subject. 
e) when the entity has not complied with such externally imposed 

capital requirements, the consequences of such non-compliance. 

The entity bases these disclosures on the information provided internally to 

key management personnel. 

In developing the disclosure requirements in IAS 1.134 and IAS 1.135,  

the IASB decided against requiring the disclosure of the capital targets set  

by management. The reasons given include that capital targets are not more 

important than other financial targets and that requiring disclosure of only 

capital targets would provide users with incomplete, and perhaps misleading, 

information. However, the IASB confirmed its view that when an entity has 

policies and processes for managing capital, qualitative disclosures about  

these policies and processes are useful.29 

                                                   
28 IAS 1.134. 
29 IAS 1.BC98-IAS 1.BC101. 
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The third and perhaps most obvious and practically significant example where 

IFRS may require entities to disclose APMs and APM-related information in  

the financial statements, is the requirement in IFRS 8 Operating Segments  

to disclose segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities. Because the amounts 

reported must be the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker 

for making decisions about the allocation of resources and in assessing 

performance, the standard may require entities to report management 

performance measures.  

Extract from IFRS 8 

25 The amount of each segment item reported shall be the measure reported 

to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of making decisions 

about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance. 

Adjustments and eliminations made in preparing an entity’s financial 

statements and allocations of revenues, expenses, and gains or losses shall 

be included in determining reported segment profit or loss only if they are 

included in the measure of the segment’s profit or loss that is used by the 

chief operating decision maker. Similarly, only those assets and liabilities that 

are included in the measures of the segment’s assets and segment’s liabilities 

that are used by the chief operating decision maker shall be reported for that 

segment. If amounts are allocated to reported segment profit or loss, assets 

or liabilities, those amounts shall be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

 

How we see it 
• Entities with reportable operating segments under IFRS 8 need to 

consider the interaction between information disclosed in the financial 

statements under IFRS 8 and APM-related information provided in line 

with applicable guidelines for information provided outside the financial 

statements.  

• In the interest of enhancing communication effectiveness, entities should 

avoid unnecessary duplication and consider whether cross-referencing 

may help users to link together information that is provided in different 

places, but ensuring compliance with the restrictions on cross-referencing 

under IFRS.  

3.2 What the enforcers say 

ESMA identified the presentation of financial performance as one of three 

enforcement priorities for European enforcers in the review of financial 

statements for 2016.30 Reporting on the findings from these reviews, ESMA 

noted that over 70% of the issuers reviewed presented additional line items and 

headings “over and above” the requirements in IAS 1 and that more than 90% 

of the issuers in the sample presented subtotals.31 ESMA also reported that, 

overall, European enforcers identified a high level of compliance with the 

requirements of IAS 1 when it comes to line items, headings and subtotals. In 

the extracts that ESMA published as examples of enforcement decisions taken 

by European enforcers, we found two examples of cases where European 

enforcers took action against misleading labelling/exclusion of operating items 

                                                   
30 ESMA/2016/1528 PUBLIC STATEMENT European common enforcement priorities for 2016 
financial statements. 
31 ESMA32-63-424 Report Enforcement and Regulatory Activities of Accounting Enforcers in 
2017. 
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from subtotal relating to operating activities. In one of the cases, “EBIT before 

non-recurring items” excluded impairment charges and restructuring costs. In 

the other case, the enforcer concluded that the entity should have reported a 

revaluation loss on equipment within its operating activities (and not after “net 

result“).32 

ESMA also reports that 22% of the issuers reviewed labelled line items/subtotals 

as “non-recurring”, “exceptional”, “unusual” or “infrequent”. In view of this 

finding, ESMA “reminds issuers that it is not acceptable to label subtotals or  

line items as “exceptional“ (IAS 1.87)”. This suggests that ESMA has adopted  

a broad, rather than narrow, interpretation of the prohibition against the label 

of “extraordinary” in IAS 1. ESMA also argues that items that affected past 

periods, and are expected to affect future periods, “can rarely be labelled or 

presented as non-recurring items such as most of the restructurings costs or 

impairment losses”.  

ESMA also noted that only half of the issuers who used the above labels for 

additional line items/subtotals disclosed the judgements made in making these 

classifications. In view of this finding, ESMA strongly encouraged issuers “to 

disclose where significant judgement is required in the presentation of material 

items whenever IFRS is not clear in the classification or the presentation of 

items and subtotals in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income”. 

Finally, ESMA observed that the lack of defined subtotals in IAS 1 results in  

a number of different subtotals and/or labels used in practice to encapsulate 

variations of similar accounting concepts. In light of this, ESMA argues that 

further guidance from the IASB on the definition and labelling of some subtotals 

would be desirable to reduce diversity in practice and to improve comparability 

of financial statements. 

3.3 What reporting entities can do  

As noted in the previous section, IFRS provides some flexibility for entities  

to incorporate additional line items and/or subtotals in the primary financial 

statements. This section presents some real-life examples of how financial 

statements may be tailored to increase communication effectiveness by 

facilitating the reconciliation of APMs to audited financial statement 

information. 

Presentation of non-IFRS measures alongside IFRS financial statements 

As noted earlier, in some jurisdictions, but not all, it is accepted to present 

APMs as additional columns alongside the financial statements (See example 

3.3.1). 

  

                                                   
32 See Decision 7 in the 22nd Extract from the EECS’s Database of Enforcement (EECS/0118-
07 – Presentation of revaluation losses of assets used in operating activities). 
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Extract 3.3.1 BT (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

In its 2017 annual report, BT presented specific items in a separate column to 

the income statement. Specific items are defined and identified elsewhere in 

the annual report. 

 

How we see it 
• The presentation of APMs in separate columns may have the advantage of 

facilitating comparison with IFRS financial statement data, especially if 

adjustments are explicitly detailed in a separate column. 

• A columnar format may be seen to introduce clutter to the primary 

financial statements, in particular when adding the same information  

for the comparative periods.  

• Before adopting a columnar format, entities must consider local 

regulators’ guidelines on acceptable primary financial statements 

formats. 
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Subtotals in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

As noted above, it is common practice in Europe to present additional subtotals 

in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. When 

entities present operating expenses by nature of expense, subtotals such as 

EBITDA and EBIT can be incorporated into the structure of the statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income without violating the 

fundamental structure of the statement. See extract 3.3.1 below for one 

example.  

Extract 3.3.1 Flughafen München Gmbh (2016) Germany 

 

 

Commentary 

Flughafen München presents EBITDA and EBIT in its income statement for 

2016. 
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Special, unusual and non-recurring items in the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income 

To assess trends, both investors and management are often interested in an 

entity’s underlying performance, i.e., the performance excluding the effect  

of period-specific “special”, ”unusual” and/or “non-recurring” items. Many 

statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income related  

APMs are therefore adjusted for the effect of such items. 

As noted above, the separate presentation or disclosure in financial statements 

of what management views as special, unusual and/or non-recurring items  

is controversial in some jurisdictions. Discussions generally revolve around 

definitions and classifications, in particular, concerning arbitrariness in 

classifications and whether certain types of items, e.g., restructuring expenses 

and impairment expenses, can truly be characterised as unusual/non-recurring.  

Various practices exist across different jurisdictions. Observations suggest that 

these variations may be affected by local regulations and guidance issued by 

regulators. In considering the practices illustrated in the following extracts, it  

is important to carefully consider specific facts and circumstances, including 

jurisdictional requirements.  

APM-related information in the notes to the financial statements  

As noted previously, IFRS requires certain entities to disclose financial 

information about operating segments. The amounts to be disclosed are as 

measured internally for allocating resources and assessing performance. Under 

the assumption that there is normally a high level of correspondence between 

internal and externally communicated measures of performance, entities may 

thus be required to disclose certain APM-related information as part of their 

segment disclosures.  

While many entities provide APM-related disclosures in line with APM guidance 

outside the financial statements, some have opted to provide all or some of  

that information in the notes to the financial statements. Sometimes these 

disclosures are provided in the note on accounting policies. Sometimes they  

are provided in a separate note and, sometimes, the information is provided in 

the context of segment disclosures. See extract 3.3.3 below for an example. 
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Extract 3.3.3 IMI plc (2017) UK 
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Commentary 

In IMI plc’s 2017 annual report, APMs are mentioned on page 1 following a 

table that sets out the 2017 highlights. A footnote explains that many of the 

measures in the table are “non-statutory alternative performance measures” 

and refers readers to two specific pages for explanations and rationales for 

these measures, as well as the associated definitions and reconciliations to 

statutory measures. The interested reader can follow this reference to note 

2.1 Segmental information and alternative performance measures in the 

financial statements. The extract above reproduces parts of this note, 

including an introduction explaining that “organic revenue growth“ and 

“operating profit“ are two key performance measures (KPIs) that reflect  

the way the performance of the Group is managed and monitored. The 

introduction also explains that the note contains an analysis of the key  

parts of these two KPIs – the group’s “adjusted revenues” and “segmental 

operating profits”. An introductory table sets out the definitions of relevant 

APMs and, where required, reconciliations can be found. 

Under the sub-heading, “Alternative Performance Measures” it is explained 

that the identified APMs are used by the Executive Committee to monitor  

and manage the performance of the Group, and that movements in adjusted 

revenue and segmental operating profit are given on an organic basis “so 

that performance is not distorted by acquisitions, disposals and movements 

in exchange rates”. 

 

Reporting net debt in the financial statements  

As noted previously, IFRS requires entities to disclose information that enables 

users to evaluate its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital,33  

If such objectives and policies are expressed in terms of key ratios, such  

as equity to assets or debt to equity, disclosure of these measures and  

related information (e.g., definition, explanations and reconciliation) may  

be appropriate. An APM pertaining to the management of capital that has 

gained prominence in some jurisdictions is “net debt”. Net debt reconciliations 

are also often found in the notes to the financial statements.  

                                                   
33 IAS 1.134 
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Extract 3.3.4 BT Group plc (2017) UK 

 

 

Commentary 

The BT Group generally presents APM-related information in a separate 

section following the financial statements. Information on the definition  

of net debt and a reconciliation is, however, also provided in note 25 to  

the financial statements. 

 

3.4 Assurance 
The International Standards on Auditing (ISA) require auditors to evaluate 

whether additional information that is not required by the applicable financial 

reporting framework (e.g., IFRS) is clearly differentiated from the audited 

financial statements. If the additional information is not capable of being clearly 

differentiated, it is an integral part of the financial statements and, hence, it 

needs to be covered by the auditor’s opinion.34 

If the additional information is not considered an integral part of the audited 

financial statements, the auditor needs to evaluate whether such information is 

presented in a way that sufficiently and clearly differentiates it from the audited 

financial statements. If this is not the case, the auditor asks management to 

change how the unaudited additional information is presented.35 

                                                   
34 Refer to ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, 
paragraph 53 
35 Refer to ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, 
paragraph 54 
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We expect unaudited additional information to be clearly differentiated from  

the audited financial statements. This is typically accomplished by labelling it  

as “unaudited”.  

However, before including unaudited information in audited financial 

statements, entities should consider requirements issued by local regulators 

and enforcers. The inclusion of unaudited information in audited financial 

statements is by some enforcers considered inappropriate. 

3.5 Discussion Paper on Principles of Disclosure 

In 2017, the IASB issued a Discussion Paper Disclosure Initiative - The Principles 

of Disclosure (the DP). Amongst a number of topics, the DP discussed whether 

the standard setter should develop guidance relating to the presentation of 

some performance measures that are commonly presented as line items or 

subtotals in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

such as EBIT and EBITDA, infrequently occurring items and performance 

measures.  

With regard to the first topic, the DP explains that the Board’s preliminary view 

is that it should clarify that the presentation of EBITDA will only comply with 

IAS 1 if an entity presents an analysis of expenses based on their nature. 

The presentation of EBIT, on the other hand, is likely to comply with IAS 1. 

With regard to infrequently occurring items, the DP explains that the Board’s 

preliminary view is that IFRS should allow entities to present unusual or 

infrequently occurring items separately. However, in response to concerns that 

entities are presenting unusual or infrequently occurring items inappropriately 

and/or inconsistently, the Board should develop definitions of, and 

requirements for, the presentation of such items in the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income. The Board discussed, but did not form 

any preliminary views on, whether to prohibit the use of particular terms such 

as “non-recurring“, “special“ or “one-off“. Arguments for prohibiting their use 

include that since they lack explanations, these terms are not helpful for users 

of financial statements and that they may be interpreted in a similar way to  

the term “extraordinary items“, the use of which is prohibited by IAS 1. 

With regard to the issue of including performance measures in financial 

statements, the Board’s preliminary view was that it should develop guidance 

on how such performance measures can be fairly presented in financial 

statements. In this context, the Board noted that IAS 1 states that a “fair 

presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, 

other events and conditions” and that the Conceptual Framework proposes 

that, in order to be a faithful representation, a depiction needs to be complete, 

neutral and free from error.36 In light of these considerations, the DP 

recommends introducing a number of requirements for performance measures 

in financial statements. 

  

                                                   
36 The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting QC12 
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DP/2017/1 Disclosure Initiative – Principles of Disclosure 

The DP sets out that it was the Board’s preliminary view that IFRS should 

require a performance measure to be: 

(a) displayed with equal or less prominence than the line items, subtotals and 

totals in the primary financial statements required by IFRS; 

(b) reconciled to the most directly comparable measure specified in IFRS to 

enable users of financial statements to see how the performance measure 

has been calculated; 

(c) accompanied by an explanation in the notes to the financial statements 

of: 

i. how the performance measure provides relevant information 

about an entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash 

flows; 

ii. why the adjustments to the most directly comparable measure 

specified in IFRS in (b) have been made; 

iii. if the reconciliation in (b) is not possible, why not; and 

iv. any other information necessary to aid understanding of the 

measure (i.e., the information should provide a complete 

depiction). 

(d) neutral, free from error and clearly labelled so it is not misleading; 

(e) accompanied by comparative information for all prior periods presented 

in the financial statements; 

(f) classified, measured and presented consistently to enable comparisons to 

be made over time, except when IFRS require a change in presentation, 

as stated in IAS 1.45; and 

(g) presented in a way that makes it clear whether the performance measure 

forms part of the financial statements and whether it has been audited. 

 

While some have taken these discussions to indicate an openness, even 

encouragement, to report APMs within financial statements, others look to  

the extensive list of requirements as suggesting a more restrictive approach. 
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3.6 IFRS - Future developments 

The IASB is considering the feedback received on the DP with respect to the 

issues raised about its Primary Financial Statements project. This project 

explores targeted improvements to the structure and content of the primary 

financial statements, especially the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. At the time of writing, the IASB is expected to  

continue its discussions through 2018 and publish either a Discussion Paper  

or an Exposure Draft in 2019. 

While the IASB’s proposals are expected to evolve as the project unfolds, this 

section presents a high-level outline of the discussions with a cut-off date  

end of June 2018. Two topic areas are addressed: subtotals in the financial 

statements; and management performance measures. The Boards have not  

yet addressed the topic of infrequently occurring items of Income/expense.  

Required subtotals in the statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income 

During 2017 and 2018, the Board discussed introducing new subtotals in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. In September 

2017, the Board decided to prioritise comparability by introducing new 

standardised subtotals, such as EBIT, that facilitate comparisons between 

entities, over introducing a management-performance measure subtotals. The 

Board has also agreed to explore the introduction of an investing category in 

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. In November 

2017, the Board decided to rename this category “income/expenses from 

investments“.  

Consequently, the Board is currently expected to propose to add one or more 

new subtotals to the list of required subtotals in the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income in IAS 1.81A, for example: Profit before 

investing, financing and tax and Profit before financing and tax. 

If the IASB decides to require new subtotals to be presented in the financial 

statements, this will impact which financial measures are considered to be 

APMs. More specifically, some measures that are currently classified as  

APMs may become GAAP measures. 

Management Performance Measures 

The Board has discussed requiring entities to present or disclose Management 

Performance Measures (MPMs) in the financial statements during several 

meetings in 2017 and 2018.  

Introducing such requirements is motivated in terms of users finding 

information about how management views the entity’s financial performance, 

and insights into how the business is managed, to be useful. Another key 

argument is that requiring presentation of MPMs inside the financial statements 

may make these measures more transparent and provide greater assurance 

over the measures. A third motivation is a perception that, lacking guidance  

in the standards, preparers may be reluctant to present their view of financial 

performance in their financial statements, because doing so may be challenged 

by auditors and regulators.  

In April 2018 the IASB tentatively decided that entities shall be required to 

identify a measure (or measures) of profit or comprehensive income that, in 

https://www.ifrs.org/projects/work-plan/primary-financial-statements/
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the view of management, communicates to users the financial performance 

of the entity. This measure may be a subtotal or total required by IAS 1.  

If it is not, it is considered to be a MPM. If the measure is a subtotal or total 

required by IAS 1.81A, the IASB is considering requiring entities to disclose  

an explanation of why it best communicates management’s view of the entity’s 

financial performance. If the measure is not a subtotal or total listed IAS 1,  

it is a MPM.37 In such cases, the IASB is considering requiring the separate 

presentation of this measure as a subtotal in the statement of profit and  

loss and other comprehensive income if it “fits” in the proposed structure for  

the statement and satisfies the requirements for subtotals in IAS 1.85A. With 

regard to MPMs, the Board is also considering requiring the measure to be 

labelled in a clear and understandable way to avoid the risk of misleading 

users and a number of related disclosures (See below for details). 

Proposed disclosure requirements when (a) profit measure(s) 
identified as “best communicates the financial performance of  
the entity” is an MPM38 

1. If not separately presented in the statement(s) of profit and loss and 

other comprehensive income, a reconciliation to the most directly 

comparable subtotal or total required by IAS 1;  

2. An explanation of how the management performance measure has  

been calculated.  

3. An explanation of how the measure provides relevant information  

about an entity’s financial performance; and  

4. A statement that the measure provides management’s view of the 

entity’s financial performance and is not necessarily comparable with 

other entities. 

The proposed requirement that an MPM must fit in the proposed structure  

for the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, in 

combination with proposals to incorporate new standardised subtotals in  

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, would 

significantly restrict which MPMs can be presented on the face of the 

statement. Nevertheless, concerns have been expressed that requiring the 

separate presentation of MPMs in the financial statement, may “elevate“ MPMs, 

giving them the same prominence as IFRS measures. As an alternative, the 

IASB has considered not to specifically require the presentation of the identified 

MPM in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

arguing that a specific requirement in not necessary given the existing 

requirements to present additional subtotals in IAS 1.85-85A. 

If the IASB decides to require one or more MPMs, and MPM-related information 

to be presented and/or disclosed in the financial statements, this may impact 

entities’ decisions with regard to the placement of such information.39 

                                                   
37 This definition is motivated in terms of IAS 1.85-85A de facto requiring entities to present 
certain additional subtotals. 
38 IASB Agenda paper 21A (April 2018): Primary Financial Statements - Clarifying 
requirements for management performance measures (MPMs) paragraph 3(b). 
39 IASB Agenda paper 21A (April 2018) ): Primary Financial Statements - Clarifying 
requirements for management performance measures (MPMs) paragraph 23.  
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4. Project management 

4.1 How to work with APMs 

APMs have a twofold use; directors monitor the financial and economic 

performance through APMs, and issuers heavily rely on APMs to communicate 

results to their financial statement users. APMs should normally be consistent 

with the performance indicators used by directors. However, regulatory 

restrictions, as discussed in previous chapters in this publication, or 

confidentiality issues may prevent directors from disclosing all of the types of 

performance indicators used. Furthermore, complexity in calculation or use of 

non-financial information could also prevent directors from publicly disclosing 

certain types of APMs. 

A structured way to organise an entity’s APM process may involve the following 

four steps: 

1. Identify the relevant APMs for users that are also eligible for external 

communication 

2. Design and implement a process to monitor that the applicable regulatory 

guidelines are applied for the APMs selected  

3. Monitoring that APMs are based on reliable and traceable information 

4. Ensure that their placement is capable of meeting their communication 

objectives  

Because the steps above are entirely part of the internal procedures, an entity 

should also set up monitoring activities within its internal control system  

in order to ensure the absence of weaknesses throughout the process and  

the compliance with applicable enforcement decisions and regulations. In the 

following section, some relevant considerations regarding the first three steps 

are summarised. The placing of APMs has been thoroughly addressed in the 

previous chapters, and will therefore not be elaborated on below.  

4.2 Identification of the APMs 

Identifying APMs is a complex exercise where directors have to consider  

a myriad of facts and circumstances. 

At first glance, directors need to identify what their communication needs are. 

A suggested method could be to use a twofold approach: 

• Bottom up approach: APMs should normally be consistent with internal 

performance measures used by management, which are based on the 

specific circumstances of an entity (e.g., its value chain, success factors, 

served market, type of clients). If a performance measure provides 

relevant information, it should be selected as a possible candidate  

for inclusion in the financial communication as an APM where GAAP 

measures do not convey the same information. The bottom-up approach 

is normally not sufficient on its own to identify a performance measure  

as an APM for external communication. 
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• Top down approach: in assessing whether all candidates for APMs 

identified are sufficient and useful to users, an entity should interact  

with its analysts and investors and should be aware of any industry 

specific practices. This could be achieved by review (perhaps via a survey) 

of what competitors are doing in the market, or benchmarking of peers  

or competitors.  

This twofold approach has the merit of identifying what is useful internally  

and externally. However, it still does not answer the question as to the 

appropriateness of using an APM in financial communication.  

APMs still need to be assessed in terms of consistency and compliance with  

the guidelines issued by the regulators. 

Entities may prepare a fit-gap analysis in terms of consistency with the 

regulated framework and best practices. In particular, the gap analysis should 

consider the applicable guidelines in order to ensure that the identified APMs: 

• May be disclosed  

• Comply with existing requirements 

• Would not be better placed in other areas of the financial report (e.g., 

segment note in the financial statements) 

Finally, the issuer should define an action plan to allign all identified gaps. 

Only after having passed these “gates” should directors use a performance 

measure as an APM. 

4.3 Design and implement process for APM disclosure 

As part of its action plan, an issuer should design and implement the process 

to produce, on a timely basis, its identified APMs. Such a process is usually 

included in the financial statement closing process, which should be updated 

to include the following: 

• Policies and procedures: internal policies must clearly identify the 

definition of APMs and the methodology to be used to calculate them. 

Also, policies should define the items to which selected APMs should be 

reconciled. The issuer should clearly identify those individuals in charge  

of the process and define specific tasks in the closing process, along with 

a timetable for their preparation.  

• Reporting system: APM calculation and reconciliation must be supported 

by a proper reporting system, e.g., the system implemented for GAAP 

financial reporting purposes. An extensive use of spreadsheets and 

unstructured reporting systems typically prevent straightforward 

reconciliation, more frequently lead to mistakes, and make auditing the 

APMs, if applicable, more difficult, delaying the entire disclosure process. 

Data should be stored in a reporting system that allows the calculation  

to be reperformed and/or backtraced from the APM indicators to source 

data. 
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• Internal control over financial reporting: since the APMs are part of  

the financial information, the internal control system must be updated; 

regulators are already suggesting that entities evaluate whether their 

disclosure controls and procedures are robust enough to ensure the APMs 

are prepared consistently over periods, the measures are accurately 

calculated and transparent, and that the measures are adequately 

reviewed and monitored.  

4.4 Monitoring APMs communication process 

Due to the significance of APMs in financial reporting and financial 

communications, issuers usually understand the importance of a reliable 

process; improper selection, presentation or computation of APMs can 

trigger comments from regulators and/or unclear communication with 

stakeholders. 

To achieve a proper process, issuers need to design robust controls to 

ensure:  

i. The completeness and accuracy of data sourced from the Issuer’s 

databases 

ii. The appropriateness of the extractions used 

iii. The appropriateness of categorisation and computations made during 

the production of the APMs 

iv. The accuracy and the presentation of the output  

In addition, a preliminary assessment of APMs based on data embedded in 

their calculation (audited or reviewed financial data, or other information) 

can facilitate the identification of necessary new controls over flows or data 

not otherwise required for the preparation of financial statements (but 

required for the use of APMs). 

A regular and timely testing of these controls can confirm their operating 

effectiveness and, therefore, their sufficiency to address the assessed risks 

of misstatement. Deficiency or exceptions identified during this monitoring 

should be carefully considered before the communication of the APMs  

and they should be investigated in order to improve the reliability of the 

processes. Lastly, due to changes in industries and markets, entities  

should implement a regular review, with due tone at the top, to confirm the 

compliance of their APMs with existing guidelines and their ability to meet 

the needs of users.  
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